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 "With Buck Shot leading the crews we have a better  than even 

chance and if this goes pear shaped, of which there  is a good 

possibility, we will need him to straighten it out. "  

"All right, I buy it, give Lance whatever he needs,  but keep me 

in the loop. Call me if you need me; I'll be with t he CJOPS.  This is 

the main game at the moment."   

 Back inside the conference room, Group Captain Lau rie Wilkie 

found Lance pouring through the Defense Intelligenc e file covering 

the deployment of the Chinese fleet and the most re cent activities.  

"The Chinese posture was clearly to intimidate," he  said.  "They 

don't think we have the legs to project any air pow er, especially 

with the U.S. holding back. It was public record wh en the F-111's 

were rolled off the flight line.  The Chinese obvio usly think they 

aren't airworthy and we don’t have the distnce with  the F-35 or 

Rhino." 

 This was a massive undertaking that Lance barely k new where to 

begin. "Who have I got to help me pull this shit fi ght together 

then?" 

 Wilkie pondered the answer for a second. “On the s ystems side, 

your airframes, electronics and ordnance, we are lu cky enough to have 

scored some help from a guy by the name of Patrick Boone. He’s an 

engineer, real brainy bugger with a specialty in F- 111’s. No doubt he 

probably has his head under the dash right now. I w ould like you to 

meet him. Hope you don’t mind but you will need to take another small 

trip, Patrick will fill you in the Pig progress whe n you get there. 

He has a few surprises for you.  

“You can’t tell me now?”  

“Obviously it’s secret, but that’s not the reason.  Boone’s 

pretty passionate about his birds and wanted to sho w them to you 

himself. It’s his show and we don’t want to disappo int.” 
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His birds? Lance was thinking. His show? What did a ll that 

mean? 

The Wing Commander saw the puzzled expression on Ha milton’s 

face. “It will be revealed pretty shortly, I’ll let  him do the 

talking. In the meantime let’s do some walking; you  have a ride to 

catch.” He opened the door. “Don’t just sit there, grab your stuff 

lets go!”  

 

 
 
RAAF F-111 strike aircraft 
 
F-111 strike aircraft The RAAF operated three versi ons until their retirement in 2010: 

·  the F-111C strike fighter 
·  the RF-111C, modified for photo-reconnaissance work  
·  ex-US Air Force F-111G's, which help ensure Austral ia maintains its strike 

capability  
 
General Dynamics F-111 technical specifications     
Manufacturer    General Dynamics 
Role    Long-range strike fighter 
Crew    Pilot and navigator, who also operates the weapons systems 
Engine    Two Pratt and Whitney TF-30 turbofans (9, 500 kg thrust each) 
Airframe   Length: 23m, height: 5.3m 
Wingspan   21.3m extended, 10.3m swept 
Weight    24,000kg basic, 51,846kg fully loaded 
Speed    Supersonic at sea level, Mach 2.5 at altit ude 
Range    Ferry range in excess of 5,500km 
Ceiling   Above 50,000 feet 
Weapons   Harpoon anti-ship missiles 

Sidewinder air-to-air missiles 
Conventional bombs 
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Mulka Bore, South Australia  
Lance visits the new F-111S. 
 

Australia is the driest continent on our planet. De ep in the 

interior, a remote and extremely parched piece of d irt called Mulka 

Bore has earned the title of being the driest place  in Australia. 

Mulka Bore is situated just a few miles west of Lak e Eyre in South 

Australia and is home to a defense research facilit y run by a private 

U.S. firm called MacDowell Aviation. This fact wasn ’t top secret; the 

firm was very active in the development of UAV’s an d worked closely 

with the CSIRO, Defence and other partners. But the y also did some 

other stuff. That particular stuff no one knew abou t.  

The Challenger 604 VIP transport jet landed on what  looked like 

a broad flat salt pan, a smooth dust bowl located i n desolate 

environment that looked the same as far as the hori zon. Less than 

five minutes ago Lance Hamilton had not even heard of this place. Now 

it was a name on a map but still a place with no ro ads, no people, 

just dust That’s what the map showed and that is wh at it looked like. 

Mulka Bore he thought, what the hell am I doing her e?  

Where the flies came from god only knew, but as soo n as he 

stepped off the plane they were hell bent on checki ng out every 

crevice on his face, just like home. Hamilton waved  them off, 

especially the little bastards that went straight f or the corners of 

his mouth. He had enough time in the bush to know t o leave them alone 

if they were sitting on his back or arms, anywhere in fact but his 

face. It reminded him strongly of his childhood. A loud voice 

interrupted the sudden flashback. 

“Welcome to Mulka Bore, hot one day, bloody sight h otter the 

next.” The voice came from one of a small group of men who had been 

standing beside their vehicles in the middle of no- where waiting the 

arrival of the RAAF biz jet.  Lance looked up from the fly swatting 

exercise, this must be Boone he thought recognizing  the face from the 
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photo. The man, medium height and build with a shoc k of unruly gray 

hair and glasses walked towards him, offering his h and. 

“Patrick Boone.” He said shaking Lance’s hand. “He motioned to 

the open door of a white Land Cruiser, one of three  in the small 

convoy. Boone climbed in the front and they were mo ving before Lance 

had finished shutting the door. The drive was a lot  shorter than he 

had expected. 

The four-wheel drive rolled to a stop in front of w hat looked 

like large Nissan huts recessed into the ground tha t he been unable 

to see from the air. These were short one-story str uctures used in 

the last big war to barrack troops. Interesting he thought, maybe 

some old research station.  

Up until now the whole trip had almost been theatri cal, the 

chopper ride, the fancy biz jet and the mystery tha t landed him in 

the middle of nothing. But all this drama was very expensive so there 

had to something really interesting happening here.  While he was 

thinking that, and before he had a chance to ask an y questions, Boone 

exited the front passenger door. Lance Hamilton gue ssed this is where 

he was supposed to exit and climbed out as well. It  was blistering 

hot.  Once on the ground he looked around, but Boon e was already 

walking fast, motioning him forward, he hurried to catch up. They 

were walking directly to the Nissan huts. They look ed too low to be 

anything of significance, but as he got closer he r ealized they were 

recessed into the ground further than he had realis ed disguising much 

larger structures. A few more steps and he saw they  were really huge 

big bugger hangers, he almost stopped in his tracks  but Boone was 

still going full bore talking at the same time. He wondered how come 

he didn’t know about these before. You didn’t build  multi million 

dollar hangers in the middle of nowhere without goo d reason. He then 

took another look at the ground. It wasn’t dirt but  cement; this was 

no dust outback strip as he had thought. The surfac e was stencilled, 
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colored and blended seamlessly with the endless fla t desert 

surrounding it. This was very ‘Area 51’ like, with the exception that 

fewer people seemed interested in this one. Boone w alked up beside 

him. 

Hamilton looked at him. “You win, I’m truly intrigu ed.” 

Boone laughed. “Yes, sorry for the secrecy,” Actual ly he 

wasn’t, he was enjoying it immensely. He spread his  arms out, “but 

its par of the course. Follow me.” He started walki ng again. 

Lance bit his lip. What had been intriguing now had  him almost 

gagging in anticipation, of what he couldn’t even b egin to guess. 

Boone led him down a long graduated ramp towards th e hanger doors. 

The buildings were dug at least 20 meters into the desert floor. 

“Okay, bear with me a few more minutes and all your  questions 

will be answered.” Boone keyed a small mobile remot e. The big doors 

moved, it seemed to take ages. Compared to the glar e outside it was 

hard to see the interior. Hamilton followed Boone t owards the 

entrance. Gradually the interior came into focus; h e stopped in his 

tracks, the sound of Boones foot steps echoing thro ugh the hangar. 

Hamilton was struck dumb. Never in his wildest idea s had he ever 

believed to see such a thing. 
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Lance Hamilton stood stock still, jaw dropped and i n complete awe at 

what he was looking at. The massive entrance he sto od in were the 

first of several huge hangars. The hangar he stood in was spotless 

aside from a few coffee table sized mobile toolkits . Dominating the 

cavernous space in front of him were five large air frames, big jets. 

They were Pigs. 

Boone was loving every moment of this, the expressi on on 

Hamilton’s face worth gold. “Careful not to catch f lies Squadron 

Leader.” He walked past the nose of the first big j et and kicked the 

nose wheel, running his hand down the side of the a ircraft looking 

back at the Squadron Leader. Patrick Boone was a fl ight engineer, 

what you might call a boffin, a particularly good o ne. He was also a 

pilot, but while he loved flying, the engineering o f flight he loved 

even more. He turned and picked up a clipboard that  was sitting on 

one of the trolleys; he still preferred paper at ti mes. He adjusted 

his glasses, flicked the cover over and started rea ding from the top 

of the page.  

“Let me see, A8-272,” He looked up, “I think you kn ow her, the 

Bone Yard Wrangler,” 

Hamilton was stunned, riveted to the spot. Wasn’t t hat airframe 

sitting out is days at Point Cook? 

“Yeah, I know, different airframe at Point Cook.” B oone said 

reading his thoughts. “We painted some airframes we  got from the 

States and swapped them for these RAAF airframes. T he paint job on 

our originals here isn’t that great at the moment, but we can fix 

that.”  

Lance could only grunt. He could see the familiar B one Yard 

Wrangler motif very clear on the tail, something th at had been part 

of his life for so long. 

“So tell me, why’s your call sign Buckshot?” 

“Shotgun, flight of two Pigs is often called shotgu n…” 



307 | P a g e    

“Got it...shotguns fire buckshot?” 

“Yep.” There was more to the story but that would s uffice. 

Boone had wondered about that, but he also figured there was 

more to it, he was very familiar with Hamilton’s ca reer and usually a 

story went with every nick name.  

“Okay, moving on, we are pleased to present the fir st of our 

beauty contestants today.” He paused dramatically. He was clearly 

enjoying this. “Delivered to RAAF 10/05/94. Former USAF FB-111A and 

F-111G AF68-272. Served with the USAF's 428thFS/27t hFW.” He flicked 

the sheet on his note pad over. “Retired at Cannon AFB, NM on 

23/09/82, allocated to AMARC as FV0130. Later remov ed from storage 

and transported to the Sacramento ALC, McClellan AF B, CA for 

refurbishment and sale to Australia. Named 'Boneyar d Wrangler', she 

was the first F-111 to be recovered from the Boneya rd in Arizona. On 

arrival here had a total of just over 5766 flight h ours. I think you 

flew her in the flyby during the Olympics Closing C eremony and then 

at the Avalon Air Show several times with number 6 Squadron right? 

Lance just nodded as Boone continued. It was like f inding out 

that some one close to you thought dead, had come t o life. Lance 

could see that his name was still stencilled on the  side. But she was 

not the same airplane he had left in the hanger jus t a few years 

before. 

“You have made some changes.” He said. 

Patrick Boone grinned. ‘Just the odd one or two.” H e said 

casually, but the grin was super glued across to hi s face as he 

watched Hamilton walk around the aircraft. He could  see Lance 

instinctively run his hand over the engine inlets. They were modified 

to allow the new engines to develop full thrust. 

“MMmmmmm….I’m guessing new engines for a start.” Ha milton said. 

“Correct, lighter and more powerful F119’s,” The Pr att & Whitney 

F119-PW-100 also powered the F22 Raptor. “They were  relatively easy 
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to fit. The TF30 bay hardly needed any structural m odification and 

the new engines are half the weight of the old TF30 . We added an 

inlet plug with a radar blocker same as on the F/A- 18E and a tailpipe 

extension plug with another radar blocker like the F-22. 

“Supercruise?” Hamilton asked. 

“Absolutely, and then some, this plane will cruise faster than 

any other on the planet.” Boone didn’t bother expan ding. Hamilton 

knew it all already. The basic aerodynamics of the F-111 are 

particularly well suited to supersonic cruise, espe cially with the 

variable wing and inlet geometries which are not a feature of the F-

22 design, and the internal bomb bay which is a fea ture common to the 

F-22 and JSF designs. The option of sweeping the wi ngs fully aft to 

72.5 degrees results is a significant reduction in supersonic drag, 

compared to a conventional fighter with a fixed swe ep angle. This is 

why underpowered swingwing F-14A Tomcat could match  the supersonic 

speed of the F-15A. 

 The two men spent the rest of the afternoon going over each 

airframe and every modification. By the end of the day a good 

friendship had developed and by the time Hamilton l eft a sense of 

excitement had replaced the dull aches in his mind that belonged to 

the past. Boone’s risky venture to upgrade, rebuild  and maintain 

retired F-111C airframes had paid off in ways that no one would have 

imagined. In the current crises the Australian gove rnment was happy 

to pay top dollar to acquire the immediate capabili ties of the F-111C 

and F-111S, MacDowell Aviation recouping its signif icant investment. 

The Super Hornet, the remaining F/A-18’s and the fi rst batch of three 

JSF’s were just not up to the job, not even close. There was no other 

option, no other aircraft capable of the distance, load and speed 

required to get the job done. As far as Canberra wa s concerned, if 

MacDowell Aviation made a good profit, good on them , Lance agreed.  
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On the flight back to Canberra Lance began pulling all the pieces 

together and working it up on his notebook. It was like a big 

neglected jigsaw set with pieces scattered everywhe re, some of them 

no doubt lost. They would have to make new ones to replace them. As 

soon as he landed he was driven back to Defence Hea dquarters. It was 

midnight and time was waiting on no one. 

"The government has set a deadline for its diplomat ic efforts 

with the Chinese. Discussions will cease zero seven  hundred hours 

Saturday. That's your T/O time," the 82 nd Wing Commander said. "That 

gives you a little less than three days to get the aircraft and crew 

ready. Given the current state of affairs we have b een authorized to 

regenerate as many F-111 airframes as we can and to  recall as many 

certified crew as possible. We have a possible 35 o perational 

aircraft plus others for parts. For the moment they  fall under the 

command of the 82nd Wing, but once operational will  form a new wing - 

for as long as the current crisis persists." 

 "Yes Sir." 

 “What are your thoughts on specific airframes for this job.” 

 “No chance of using the Super Pig. I have a list o f preferred 

tail numbers here of F-111C.” 

 The Wing Commander agreed, he picked up his notes.  “As you 

know, Headquarters Air Command resides here, which is your start 

point. As soon as you are done here you will move e veryone involved 

to Avalon in Victoria.  They're getting ready for y ou."  

 While the two men talked through the processes, fa r to the 

north, over the Java Sea and in the Antarctic, othe r events were 

spiralling the crisis inexorably out of control. 
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Flight V-017 enroute for Vostok Station from McMurdo. 
December 3. 2310hrs UTC/local time AEST Dec 3 1510h rs. Brian headed 
back to Vostok again. 
 

Brian had to admit to himself it wasn't just the mo ney. Alex actually 

believed they were onto something. He hoped he wasn 't getting sucked 

into the old man's science fiction reality. So here  he was, headed 

back to Vostok, images of endless days of blue skie s, hot days, and 

the beach fading with every mile the aircraft flew south.  

 The massive and unexplained magnetic anomaly, whic h had been 

discovered at the northern end of the sub glacial l ake, was now a 

phenomenon of extreme interest. Researchers from th e Support Office 

for Aero physical Research, (SOAR), had found the a nomaly. 

Rosenbridge wanted to know more. Brian's friend Rhy s Cooper had been 

monitoring the site ever since the oil discovery. I t looked like they 

were going to meet up again sooner than they though t. 

 Around him the airframe vibrated and thumped.  Thi s was the 

McMurdo-Vostok leg of the journey. It used be full of scientists and 



311 | P a g e    

support crew. Today it was virtually empty. It woul d be full going 

back. It seemed that Australians and Americans were  very unwelcome in 

Vostok, to the point where even seasoned residents were packing their 

bags and getting out. The aircraft flew with just a  handful of 

journalists and reporters.  He chatted amiably to t he others about 

nothing important.   

 But something was nagging and teasing at his brain , a sixth 

sense that had saved him so many times in the past.   He just couldn't 

figure out what it was, but it made him nervous. 

 Fat Albert, as the C130 was affectionately known, bored a 

steady hole through the Antarctic sky.  The 'Herc B ird' was used to 

operating in extreme conditions from the Sahara to the Antarctic. 

Hamilton felt the aircraft bank after many mind-num bing hours of 

flying straight, in what was obviously an approach pattern. On the 

flight deck the crew was beginning to run through t he checklists for 

landing. 

 "V-017 this is Vostok.  We have you on radar but w e are 

experiencing white-out conditions." The Vostok flig ht controller said 

clearly over the radio. 

 "Vostok V-017 roger that, will call on final." The  C130 pilot 

looked at the co-pilot and shrugged. The normal pro cedure was to try 

an approach to the field, and if it looked bad, abo rt and then fly 

around in circles hoping to get a window to land.  If that didn't 

work it was back to McMurdo. 

 "That would be the second time this month, damn it ," the co-

pilot said.   

About one mile away from touch down, it was obvious  to the C130 

crew that the weather was deteriorating. The wind s peed had 

increased, buffeting the airframe. But the C130 dro pped her flaps and 

landing gear. 
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 Vostok Station was situated on top of the southern  flank of the 

sub-glacial lake. At the same time as the C130 appr oached the 

station, the northern part of the lake shuddered a little; the 

drifting snow ice blowing across its surface was su ddenly whipped 

into an unusual frenzy.  The air above the ice beca me static and huge 

arcs of electricity weaved through the blizzard's f lying ice and 

danced across the surface.  The arcing became more and more intense 

building into an explosion of blinding light.  Sudd enly it stopped. 

 From the epicenter of this light fell a metal rod,  impacting 

hard into the ice surface. Simultaneously an electr omagnetic pulse 

rippled out from the focal point with the same powe r as that 

generated from hundreds of nuclear blasts.  It frie d every electrical 

circuit for one hundred miles. Aircraft included. 

 Computer and communications equipment were particu larly 

vulnerable to electromagnetic pulse, or EMP, effect s. Only a small 

amount of energy is required to permanently wound o r destroy them. In 

fact, any voltage in excess of tens of volts could produce an effect 

termed 'gate breakdown' which effectively destroys the device.  

 Flight V-017's signal processors, electronic fligh t controls 

and digital engine control systems were vulnerable to 'gate 

breakdown'. The result on board the landing aircraf t was like someone 

tripping a big "off" switch. 

 Flight V-017 was dead in the air. For no apparent reason to the 

crew, all the instrumentation on the aircraft went dead. National 

Guard Hercules LC130 aircraft Skier 93 under the co mmand of Captain 

Andrew Panoski was flying completely blind.  

 The immediate effect of the magnetic pulse was the  virtual 

destruction of all communications and electronic in frastructure.  

Vostok and its surrounding camps were deaf to the w orld.  The second 

affect was global.  All over the world, operators a nd monitoring 

stations, civil and military, witnessed in real tim e the massive 
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burst of electromagnetic energy centered on the nor thern end of the 

lake.  The immediate and only conclusions were a nu clear event or an 

e-bomb, the latter more unlikely because no one had  ever admitted to 

having one, certainly none that big and neither had  any ever been 

publicly tested. 

 While some scratched beards in contemplation, sitt ing in seats 

comfortably thousands of miles from the event, back  onboard flight V-

017, there was no time to scratch or do anything ot her than to make a 

series of life-and-death decisions. With a dead fli ght deck a go-

around in whiteout conditions would be fatal.  Pano ski had to assume 

the instruments and all the aircraft's communicatio ns were gone and 

would not be recovered.  Unable to effectively navi gate, communicate 

and certainly not fly in the white out, they were b etter off on the 

ground.  

 A black marker passed directly beneath the aircraf t and Panoski 

instinctively reached for the throttles. "I have th e runway, I have 

the airplane," he said to the co-pilot, his eyes gl ued to the white 

out as if he could see the runway. Panoski closed a ll four throttles 

and started an immediate transition into the landin g attitude. He 

pulled the emergency gear lever, a mechanical hydra ulic pump system, 

but had no luck with the flaps, which were electron ically operated. 

The rate of descent was excessive, over 1000 feet p er minute. Not 

surprisingly the landing was hard, but not too hard , the Captain 

hoped.  The aircraft skidded smoothly but completel y out of control 

toward the left side of the skiway developing a til t to the right. 

Again instinctively, Panoski attempted to correct t he left drift by 

using all the right rudder he could, pressing so ha rd with his left 

foot on top of his right that he winced in pain. He  had no idea the 

tail had just separated from the aircraft and his e ffort was 

accomplishing nothing. 
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 The C130 crunched into the ice at the 850-foot mar k from the 

end of the skiway.  The force of the landing caused  the wings to flex 

all the way to the skiway surface, digging into the  ice and breaking 

away from the main wing just outside of the inboard  engines.   

 Throwing a quick look back along the fuselage, Pan oski could 

see the wing tanks, outer wing surfaces and the out board engines had 

already ripped off the airframe, as had all the pro ps, which had 

separated from the outboard engines and spun violen tly into the snow. 

The force of the landing crushed the main landing g ear and skis, 

which tore free, digging long trenches.    

 Hamilton, sitting in the very rear was unaware of any emergency 

until the fuselage in front of him parted like a zi pper taking his 

backpack and bag with it.  Suddenly there was just open space and the 

crazy sight of the front part of the fuselage, as h is section skidded 

along with it. Frozen air blasted his face and body . The tail section 

in which Hamilton was seated had torn free of the m ain body of the 

aircraft at the head of the loading ramp and was sl edding along right 

behind the main fuselage.  Above the horrendous sou nds of ripping and 

scraping he could hear the screaming of the passeng ers marooned in 

his part of the fuselage. 

 The main section of the aircraft continued at a sl ight left 

drift from the skiway center line and continued dow n the skiway 

coming to rest, almost level, just past a large ply wood "8" marker, 

signifying there was 8000 feet of runway left. The aircraft had 

skidded in its icy ballet for more than 1450 feet. 

 Hamilton knew this bizarre incident was not life t hreatening; 

it felt almost orchestrated but pretty amazing, lik e an amusement 

ride.  The rear section, its passengers and Hamilto n finally came to 

a stop about 8 to 10 feet aft of the main fuselage.  Hamilton casually 

unbuckled and stepped down from the wrecked fuselag e.  Compared to 

his last experience in a crash landing, this was po sitively fun.  The 
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bulk of passengers in both halves of the airplane l ooked shocked, 

still clinging white knuckled to their seats.  The loadmaster however 

was a professional.  Across the small space separat ing them, he fixed 

Hamilton with a quizzical gaze.   

 To the loadmaster, Hamilton looked more like some guy stepping 

from a theme park ride than a major plane crash. It  almost looked 

like he had enjoyed it. He wondered who he was; he was one very cool 

customer. 

 At the pointy end of the aircraft, it was deathly quiet on the 

flight deck. From the cockpit, everything had looke d and felt normal. 

As long as you could ignore the missing wings, engi nes and ass end, 

Panoski thought. Aside from the aircraft's very sli ght starboard 

roll, it had all felt very smooth.  

 The flight engineer instinctively went down the st eps to open 

the flight deck door.  It was jammed. The loadmaste r in the rear of 

the front section behind the flight deck door undid  his harness and 

walked briskly to the bottom of the flight deck ste ps and yelled 

"FIRE." The smoke drifting from the cargo area up i nto the cockpit 

emphasized his point. The loadmaster quickly, but e fficiently, began 

moving the passengers off the aircraft and onto the  skiway. 

 The crew was calm … but very aware of the fire and  pretty keen 

to leave the aircraft. With the flight deck door ja mmed shut, Panoski 

reached up and opened the overhead hatch above the upper flight deck 

bunk.  He ordered the crew out and followed the las t man through the 

hatch to slide down the front of the fuselage. This  was the first 

time he had an opportunity to look at his command.   

 The wings were just "stubs" and the ends of the st ubs were 

dumping all of the remaining fuel from the ruptured  fuel tanks.  The 

hot engines had ignited the fuel, which was consume d by flames as it 

fell to the surface.   A tall column of smoke rose from both wing 

stubs into an even bigger column of smoke that was left from the 
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"burning fire ball" of the aerated fuel that had be en sprayed from 

the separating wings. The pilot immediately thought  of the two fuel 

bladders they had carried and the possibility of ex plosion. Now 

seemed like a good time to "leave the area."  Every one else was 

pretty eager to get as far from the aircraft as pos sible. The outside 

temperature was -32 Fahrenheit (-57C).    

 Their adrenaline rushing, no one noticed the cold as they began 

as a group to trudge towards the station.  The two large fuel 

bladders Panoski had worried about contained diesel . The rearmost 

bladder, which had been secured to the ramp, had to rn free when the 

aircraft broke in half. The bladder had caught fire  and was burning 

furiously, quickly creating a big hole, already fif ty feet deep, in 

the ice.  

 Hamilton felt a shiver run through his body that h ad nothing to 

do with the cold as he watched the flames and billo wing smoke from 

the burning fuel.  11,000 feet beneath him lay a po ol of fuel far 

bigger than any bladder. 

 Panoski was gratified to learn that of all the sou ls on board 

his plane, no one had been hurt and that they were all able to walk 

on their own to shelter. The pilot and crew were hu ddled together as 

they walked, their voices a little shrill with the after shock and 

excitement.  

  "It just went dead.  Completely dead," Brian coul d hear the 

pilot saying. 

 "The whole goddamn system shut down," the co-pilot  added.   

 "Thank fuck we were in the landing phase. Otherwis e we wouldn't 

be talking." 

 "I have never seen anything like it.  Like someone  pulled the 

plug." 
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 They stopped talking as Hamilton approached. "Damn  it," Brian 

said to the group, looking at his watch seriously.  They all looked 

at him. "I’m going to be late."  

 It wasn't that funny, but thankful to be alive, th eir nerves 

still jingling, the smiling faces exchanged glances , infectious 

snickers broke out amongst the group that then turn ed into laughter, 

unstoppable laughter.  Despite the cold, the men ho wled and doubled 

over with the effort.  When they stopped, they felt  a whole lot 

better. The reporters looking on could only guess a t what sort of 

joke they were laughing at.  It didn’t seem at all funny to them 

 "Panoski," the pilot said extending his hand to Br ian. "Andrew 

Panoski." The two men shook hands, Panoski introduc ing Brian to the 

rest of the crew. 

 The skiway was adjacent to the U.S. 'enclave' just  a few 

hundred yards from Vostok Station itself, the Russi an encampment and 

the drilling rig.  It just might be Brian thought, going through the 

crash in his mind as they stamped through the snow,  that maybe 

Rosenbridge had indeed stumbled over something. It took ten minutes 

to walk to the skiway's control hut, which was also  an entrance to a 

whole group of huts slaved together.  Panoski start ed into the 

resident controller immediately.   

 "What do you mean you have no communications?" 

 "Nothing.  Like your airplane, just about everythi ng went 

dead."  

 The Russian, Rabets Filipovich Gnoitskii, better k nown by his 

nickname Rabbit, shrugged his shoulders. The men we re all clustered 

around the entryway to the small station. They all looked at each 

other, somehow expecting an answer.   

 It was Brian who eventually spoke.  When he did, h e held a 

small device in his hands.  The expression on his f ace was one of 

surprise. He was looking intently at a read out on the small 
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instrument. The numbers were huge. He folded the in strument and 

returned it to his pocket.  "Electromagnetic pulse…  We were hit by a 

very big electromagnetic pulse." 

 "How do you know that?" Panoski asked. 

 Brian retrieved the instrument, flipped it open an d turned it 

around so the men could see.  There was a complex l ist of numbers on 

its digital readout.  

 "Essentially this device absorbs and measures elec trical and 

magnetic energy, volts, amps, watts, magnetic fluct uation and that 

type of thing. It received a shot of energy that wa s in the region of 

thirty volts.  Anything sensitive to exposure to hi gh voltage 

transients suffers what you call 'gate breakdown' w hich effectively 

destroys the device, which is why we crashed and wh y we cannot talk 

to the outside world and they can't talk to us."  B rian turned to 

Rabbit, who he knew from his previous visits. "All your radios and 

communicators are dead, right?" 

 "Yes, but why are the lights still on - the heatin g?" Gnoitskii 

asked. 

 "Good old fashioned hard wiring and diesel generat ors," 

Hamilton said.  "The stuff that's sensitive is anyt hing built with 

high density Metal Oxide Semiconductors - radios, T V's, computers.  

 "Shit. What would have caused that?" 

 "A nuke," the loadmaster said.  "But since we are all standing 

it can't be that," Stating what he thought was the obvious. 

 "It could also have been a high air burst bomb," P anoski said, 

"But we would have had other effects like shockwave s apart from the 

very obvious blinding light,"   

 "Or it could be pre-emptive," the Russian said.  " Maybe the 

Americans closing down communications in advance of  an occupational 

force." This had actually been one of Brian's first  thoughts.  
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 "Doesn't make sense for either Russia or the U.S. It's a 

Russian-administered base, part of Vostok Station a nd we were on a 

scheduled U.S. Air Force flight." Even if it was th e last one. "I 

would have noticed something back at McMurdo.  Ther e was nothing 

cooking there apart from sausages." 

 There was silence for a moment. The talk of food w as too much 

for the copilot. He hadn't eaten for hours. "Speaki ng of which, does 

the cooker still work?" he asked. 

 "It's gas!"  The Russian smiled, food his favourit e subject. He 

waved a lighter in his other hand. "And we have a l ight." 

 "Well then," the copilot said with some finalizati on in his 

voice. "If it's all the same to you guys, I'm hungr y and looking 

forward to hot coffee while we wait for rescue.  Wh at do you say 

Rabbit?" 

 "Good idea." 

 Hamilton followed behind thinking through the prob lem. Gas is 

right. Gas and oil, that's what this is all about. He had another 

sudden thought - was Braithwaite still here? 
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CCHHAAPPTTEERR  NNII NNEE  
 

 

Under Putin and his ‘stand in’ Medvedev, Russia had  embarked on a massive 
remodernisation of its defence forces which by 2018  had closed the technology gap with 
the U.S. and in many areas surpassed it. 
 

 

The Kremlin, Moscow  ������ , ��	
��  
December 4. 0233hrs local time. (033 UTC). Kremlin reacts to EMP 
event, orders cruise missile strike. 
 

The Kremlin, Moscow  ������ , ��	
��  December 4. It was still dark in 

Washington, while in Moscow, eight hours ahead; the  government and 

its military machine were in full motion. The north ern hemisphere was 

wrapped in its winter with Moscow weighed under by feet of snow.  

 Just outside the Kremlin, a large black Mercedes r olled through 

the high brick structure called the Spasskiy Gates and past numerous 

saluting soldiers and checkpoints. In the rear seat  of the Mercedes 

sat Colonel-General Mishka Kazakov, head of Russian  General Staff and 

twice decorated Hero of Russia. The General's dress  uniform was 
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typically adorned with a multitude of medals, each telling a story of 

bravery.  To the General, that was his past. He was  indeed a 

decorated soldier with substantial combat experienc e and a lifetime 

of training to defeat the western allies and specif ically the United 

States. Unlike many of his friends who embraced the  new way of 

things, his memories lived on. 

 The car stopped and a ceremonially dressed Tamansk iy Guardsman 

opened the door. He saluted smartly. Kazakov return ed the salute with 

equal respect. The General, instead of taking the l arge set of stone 

stairs in front of the Kremlin, took a side elevato r to the upper 

floors and the President's office. 

 When President Vladimir Petrov waived in his Joint  Chief of 

Staff, General Mishka Kazakov was red faced and cle arly irritated. 

Without saluting or waiting for pleasantries, the G eneral continued 

from where he had finished on the phone. 

 "Mister President. I can confirm the report of a m assive EMP 

blast near Vostok Station." The detection of such a  large burst of 

electromagnetic energy normally only meant one thin g, but he killed 

that line of thinking. "Like I said, it's not a bom b. Our satellite 

and seismological sensors didn't move, just the EM monitors.  The 

only explanation is an e-bomb. We have lost all con tact with Vostok 

Station. I have placed our defense forces on full a lert." 

 Both the U.S. and Russia retained large nuclear fo rces that 

remained on a ‘hair-trigger’ - they could both laun ch against their 

targets within minutes. Increasing the Russian anxi ety was the 

vulnerability of Russian forces to the increased U. S. capability to 

deliver accurate and devastating strikes and the in stallation of ABM 

systems among its neighbours.  

 "Can we reposition a satellite to have a look?" 

 "We have already done that.  Unfortunately it's on e of our 

really old models and uses film canisters.  We will  have to wait to 
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retrieve the film. We are repositioning one of our Arkon-type 

spacecraft, which delivers real-time digital imager y.  But that will 

take many hours.  In all likelihood we wouldn't be able to see 

anything anyway.  The weather was deteriorating rap idly before we 

lost contact." 

 "Who would detonate an e-bomb over Vostok?" 

 "The question I think, Mister President, is not wh o would, but 

who can? Only the Americans, Chinese and ourselves are close to 

perfecting, or have that type of device. It has to be the Americans. 

Yuen and Chen are in too deep with us in Vostok, so  it won't be them.  

The Americans are already in the deployment stage o f FCG's and high 

energy microwave systems."  

 The President gave him a quizzical look.  

 "FCGs. Explosively pumped Flux Compression Generat ors." The 

General almost felt silly saying it. The FCG sounde d like something 

out of the American TV show Star Trek. 

 The President nodded, not really understanding, bu t not looking 

for a physics lecture either.  "Go on," he said. 

 "The FCG is a device capable of producing electric al energies 

of tens of mega joules in tens to hundreds of micro seconds of time, 

in a relatively compact package. To place this in p erspective, the 

current produced by a large FCG is ten to a thousan d times greater 

than that produced by a typical lightning strike."  

 "And," the President prompted. 

 "And the only other country capable of doing that is the 

Americans. The inescapable logic is that the U.S. m ust have been the 

ones to deploy that weapon." 

 "Mishka, we cannot just assume it was them.  What if we are 

wrong? And sit down will you.  You are making me ne rvous with your 

pacing." 
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 The General pulled up an elegant period chair and leaned 

forward across the desk. The General and the Presid ent had known each 

other for a long time.  "Okay, given.  Look at it t his way.  We have 

two scenarios.  The first being that it was the Ame ricans; the second 

it was someone else. Either way, whoever detonated the device is 

probably already swarming all over the base and try ing to secure the 

oil head. Taking out our communications is a prelud e to action.  The 

enemy does not want us seeing what they are doing.  My bet is, it's 

the Americans." General Mishka Kazakov paused. 

 President Vladimir Petrov had already reached the same 

conclusions.  It sounded logical.  Destroying an en emy's 

communications was frequently a precursor to an att ack. Even if it 

wasn't the Americans, someone was escalating the cr isis. First of all 

he would blame the Americans. The logic was inescap able and 

understandable, even if he was wrong.  If he was wr ong and it was not 

the Americans, there was a strong possibility that the Americans 

would think it was the Russians and act to take ove r and control 

Vostok anyway. 

 "Neither the USSR or Russia has ever recognized an y claims in 

the Antarctic, but we have reserved the right to ma ke a claim," the 

President said quietly. "Vostok Station itself is a  Russian outpost.  

We are well within our rights to defend ourselves.  What's our 

standard response?" 

 "In the possible event of such an incident, nuclea r or similar, 

we launch a ready reaction strike force from Engels , part of the 

100th Bomber Regiment." The General looked at his w atch.  "They are 

in the air now." 

 "Can they reach the Antarctic?" the President aske d. 

 "Yes they can.  In less than eight hours."  

 Oil, Petrov thought, it was all about oil.  The Ru ssian Duma 

had argued for days over the issue.  The plunge in oil prices and 
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possibility of an almost inexhaustible glut of fres h crude on the 

market was like arsenic to the Russian economy. So long as America 

was reliant on others for oil, countries like Russi a were able to 

force the U.S. to spend money to get it and hold he r in check with 

the threat of withholding it. It was a balancing ac t for sure. But it 

worked. If the U.S. or some other country were to g ain control of the 

oil the result would be unthinkable.   

 Someone had increased the stakes though and played  a major 

card.  If that someone were to occupy the station n ow and secure the 

lakes, it would be hard to move them.  Possession w as nine-tenths of 

the law.  He had to admire the balls of whoever was  playing hardball.  

Well, Russians could play hardball as well. The Pre sident looked 

keenly at his Chief of Defense.  

 "Okay Mishka, what is it?" 

 "We have to move up the planning time table.  I wi ll talk to 

Chen. Lebedev and Vladimirovich will co-ordinate th e Special Forces. 

The first two parts are successfully completed.  Th e recent event 

means we need to act quickly. Beacause of weather c onditions we are 

currently blind to whatever threat the enemy may ho ld in surprise. 

With each hour it will become harder to remove whoe ver is digging 

them selves in there." 

 "You want to retake the station?" 

 "No … not yet anyway.  We will simply deny the sta tion and the 

lakes to anyone.  No one will have it for the momen t." Kazakov 

explained the third and final phase of the plan.  " Lebedev suggested 

we get the Chinese to use their ASATs." 

 "Good thinking." 

 "In the meantime we need to stall the Americans." 

 President Vladimir Petrov pressed the intercom buz zer on his 

desk. 

 "Yes Sir." A clipped female voice answered over th e speaker. 
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 "Summon the U.S. Ambassador here immediately." Tur ning to the 

JCS he said, "Do it, get it done. I will stall the Americans.  What 

do you propose next?" 

  "We already have Spetznaz forces in Mirny and Der mont 

d'Urville.  I have ordered the aircraft carrier Adm iral Gorshkov and 

a Pacific Fleet Force element under the command of Vice Admiral 

Vyacheslav Popov into the theater of operations imm ediately. A North 

Atlantic Fleet task force has also been given order s to make best 

speed to the Southern Ocean." 

 The President could not but help admire Kazakov's decisive 

decision processes. "You don't fuck around, do you Mishka? Good job 

for us. For my part I will immediately lodge a comp laint with the UN. 

I will advise the Americans within the hour that we  view the use of 

EMP devices the same way we would a nuclear device and will act in 

kind.  Any further use of EMP devices will result i n an immediate 

retaliation with nuclear weapons," the President sa id.   

 The General nodded his head in agreement.  The Pre sident was 

well informed and understood the ramifications. To permit the use of 

such a weapon without the threat of massive retalia tion simply 

invited capitulation. The President, he knew, under stood detente. 

Despite the advantage the Americans had militarily,  they knew they 

could not neutralize ALL the Russian offensive forc es, especially if 

they were dispersed. 

 "There is one other thing," the General said befor e leaving. 

"We have been monitoring some type of transmission from Vostok - a 

Sat Phone, obviously hardened against EMP. It looks  like someone was 

prepared for this." 

 "Secure?" 

 "No, this is the strange thing.  We just got the s ignal, no one 

talking on it." 

 "Well it won't be there long, will it Mishka?" 
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 "No" the General said. "No." But it still bugged h im. 

 

Beijing, CCP Offices 
|
i
|
i
|
i
|
i �������� CCP%-#û.3%-#û.3%-#û.3%-#û.3 
December 4.  0210 UTC. 
  

"You agreed to the Blackjack strike?" Yuen Xinghua asked. 

 "Yes," General Chen Jianguo said. 

 "What does this do to our program?" 

 "We have to move up our schedule. If the Americans  or 

Australians are deploying e-bombs it means they are  on the move.  We 

have to beat them to the punch." 

 "Okay, move it up.  Given the e-bomb, I will use m y emergency 

powers to authorize use of military force if necess ary. We can also 

slow them down diplomatically.  Try and prevent any  re-enforcement.  

The Blackjack strike will sanitize the place.  Make  sure the Russians 

are not the only ones to get back to Vostok." The P resident found it 

agitating that the Russians might get there before them.  He didn't 

trust them one bit. 

  

Vostok Station 
������  ��	��
�  
December 4. 0215 UTC. Brian looks for Sat Phone fin ds artefact. 
 

Vostok Station 
������  ��	��
�  December 4, 0215 UTC. Almost on the 

opposite side of the earth, Brian Hamilton was also  wrestling with an 

agitation; he knew the goddamn thing was out there somewhere.  His 

Satellite Phone, the only access to the outside wor ld. It had been 

attached to the side of his pack.  It was sitting o ut there on the 

skiway buried beneath snow.  He needed to go and ge t it.  But, first 

things first, something was responsible for the ele ctromagnetic 

pulse.  He needed to find out what it was.   

 Fishing the little EM sensor out of his pocket he flicked the 

lid open. It was still registering the afterglow of  the pulse.  
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Whatever it was, Hamilton thought, it had been big.   He was well 

aware of the area's anomalies.  But there had been nothing like this.  

The best bet was to zero in on the center of the SO AR anomaly along 

with the directions indicated from his little magno meter.  At the 

same time he could drive down the runway and look f or the phone. 

 He needed wheels. Better still tracks.  There had to be some 

somewhere. You didn't maintain a skiway with brooms . Hamilton 

crunched his way around the station's center.  Behi nd the main 

structure, in the shelter of the wind was what he w anted. Big 

bulldozers, some old friends he recognized. And the y were old, which 

is why they would still work. Unlike their modern c ounterparts, the 

old family of dozers did not sport any metal oxide semiconductor 

devices.   

 They were diesel, hydraulic and purely mechanical.   They could 

withstand almost any EMP attack. The oldest of the group he knew was 

called Maryanne. Brian looked her up and down. The other old 

workhorses named Pam, Colleen and Big John sat quie tly next to her. 

Magnificent, he thought.  What tin ass luck. These steel beasts that 

lived on the ice had been abandoned in remote camps  for the winter 

and seen in and out newcomers a fraction of their a ge. Even today, 

these old codgers were still the toughest hombres o n the block. They 

should have retired years ago.  But here they were,  celebrating 50 

years on the ice.  More importantly they were where  Brian was in 

desperate need of them, or one of them anyway.  

 These bone-jarring, clanking and smoking pieces of  machinery 

had all been produced back in 1963, they were known  as the 

Caterpillar SD-8 LGP - Stretch D-8 Low Ground Press ure - built 

specifically for polar programs by Caterpillar. "Th ey will pull a 

heavier, bigger load than anything else that we've got, across more 

difficult conditions without sinking in and without  slipping," 
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Russell Magsig would say.  He should know. He had l ooked after the 

station's heavy machinery for nearly 15 years.  

 Brian was still mentally re-acquainting himself wh en a big-

gloved hand slapped him on the shoulder.  He didn't  flinch. 

"Russell," he said, without even looking around. "Y ou move like a 

pregnant polar bear." Hamilton knew that wherever t hese iron 

treasures still worked, Russell would be there. 

 Russell was not surprised either. They all knew Ha milton had 

eyes in the back of his head, an acute sensitivity derived from a 

past and present no one dared ask about. But they a ll liked him. 

 "Good to see you, man," Russell said, a big genuin e grin on his 

face as they gave each other a big bear hug.  

  "Russ," Brian said, getting serious. "I need your  help." He 

quickly explained the predicament, not knowing for a second he was 

weaving himself into a global crisis. 

 Russell nodded.  While he was not big with people,  he 

worshipped Hamilton.  In fact, if it weren't for hi m, he would have 

been dead years ago, lost in a freak blizzard from hell. Russell took 

Hamilton straight to his most treasured possession,  Maryanne. He 

never let anyone else drive her. "She's all yours m ate." He bowed 

majestically, jumped up on the tracks and opened th e cab door. "We 

thank you for staying with us and look forward to y our next visit." 

He smiled. Brian jumped up after him and stepped in to the cab. 

 He settled himself into the old leather seat that before 

Russell had seen more bums than a male prostitute.  Not that there 

was anything wrong with that. The aged control leve rs fitted neatly 

into his hands.  It felt good. He shut the door and  looked outside 

the cab. Russell gave him a mock salute, jumped off  the tracks and 

pulled the diesel refueling hose from the tank.  Br ian couldn't hear 

him but he was pretty sure he said good luck.  He t ipped his hand to 

his head in a return gesture and engaged the gears.   The dozer 
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lurched forward. It only took the D8 a few minutes to reach the crash 

site.  It took another ten to locate his backpack, which was further 

down the skiway.  There was no sign of the Sat Phon e.  He swore to 

himself.  No one in the outside world knew what was  happening here.  

It would be hours, if not more than a day before an y help arrived.   

 He guessed the rest of Vostok was blacked out comm unication 

wise, just like they were.  How would that look?  A ll he needed was 

his Sat Phone, specifically designed to handle high  electromagnetic 

pulses.  Given that he was there initially to obser ve mild EMP events 

it had seemed a good idea.  The mild had become the  monstrous. It was 

like going on a mission to measure plankton and bei ng given a whale.  

Time was a wasting.  He would come back and look ag ain on the way 

back. Right now he needed to find out what was behi nd the EM pulse. 

 The little gadget was good.  Not only did it measu re EM 

radiation, it even gave a directional reading.  It was pointing to 

the source of the blast. Coupled with the GPS read outs, a two year 

old could have followed the trail. It took the best  part of two hours 

to reach the location towards the northern end of V ostok Lake. Was 

that a coincidence? Brian had monitored the GPS rea d outs down to the 

dime and didn't believe much in coincidences. It wa s pretty much in 

the epicenter of the SOAR flight readings, exactly where Blake had 

wanted him to observe readings. 

 

December 4. 0239hrs local/UTC.   

The northern end of Vostok Lake looked just like ev ery other place 

for hundreds of square miles.  Brian walked the las t few yards 

leaving the D8 with its engine running.  And there it was, plain as 

day, a two-foot long, one-inch diameter, metallic-l ooking rod 

sticking out of the ice. 

 What it was, Brian had no idea. It did strangely r emind Brian 

of the rod that Al Haqq always seemed to keep with him.  The fact 
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that it lay in the center of the EMP blast suggeste d it might be 

evidential to how or who initiated the event.  The way it stood out 

of the ice was like something from Excalibur. The m odern version, 

like ‘Please grab me and I will blow up.’ He looked  at his radiation 

meter; it was dead as a doornail.  He flicked it wi th his fingers 

just in case -- nothing.  He kept a ready eye on th e readout display 

as he approached the metal rod -- nothing.  He stop ped short of it 

and looked carefully around. There was no evidence of anyone being 

there, no tracks, no footprints, nothing, weirder b y the minute, he 

thought.  He carefully brushed the loose ice and sn ow away from the 

base of the object.   

 The metal rod, or whatever it was, appeared to hav e been 

dropped heavily into the ice, perhaps from a plane,  or maybe ejected 

from the source of the EMP device, from some height  any rate.  Closer 

up, it looked less like it was planted, which is wh at he was more 

concerned about. That might have meant anti-tamperi ng devices.  After 

some minutes of searching and of detailed inspectio n around the rod, 

he was concluding very quickly that perhaps it was just what it 

seemed, a metal rod sticking out of the ice. It had  been dropped from 

some height to impact as heavily as it had. It was also extremely 

likely that it had something to do with the e-bomb,  which was why he 

was nervous about radiation.  It wasn't, at least a s far as his 

radiation meter could tell, emitting anything harmf ul. He stepped 

gingerly towards the object, waited for a moment - he didn't know 

what for - before wrestling the rod from its hole i n the ice and 

carrying it back to the dozer.  

 Back in the cabin of the D8 it was warm, a heated oasis 

sheltered from the hellish cold. Hamilton sat the h eavy rod on the 

floor of the cab.  Removing his bulky gloves, he te ntatively touched 

the metal shaft.  In freezing temperatures your ski n can stick to 

metal objects so it paid to be careful.  Surprising ly, it felt 
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vaguely warm.  He picked the rod up so that whateve r light there was 

could help him examine his find.   

 The rod was heavy.  Why was it warm?  He couldn't help thinking 

of uranium or some other radioactive material, but his RAD meter was 

quiet as a mouse. If it were one of those materials , he would have 

already had enough exposure to kill him.  He was pa st the point of no 

return.  At least it could keep him warm. He headed  back to the 

station, taking a route that would pass the crash s ite.  He still 

wanted his phone. 

 It was the third time he had been back to the cras h site.  The 

phone had to be there somewhere.  On the second occ asion he had 

enlisted some help and had a group of guys conduct an emu-bob, still 

to no avail. Third time lucky, Brian thought; he st opped the dozer 

and walked the crash site and the skiway.  Then he heard it.  It was 

ringing, coming from the wreckage of the rear end w here he had been 

sitting.  Wouldn't that piss you off, he thought; h e couldn't believe 

he had missed it. It was jammed beneath the forward  part of the rear 

fuselage and the ice. He had assumed it had been th rown across the 

ice runway. The device was only a little larger tha n a standard 

mobile. Hamilton wrenched it free and hit the call button. 

 "Hamilton," he said. 

 "Jesus Christ Hamilton.  Where are you?" The voice  was crisp 

and clear. 

 "Vostok Station," he said flatly. "More importantl y does anyone 

know what's going on down here?" 

 "No, we were hoping you could shed some light on t his.  Defense 

won't talk to us.  You know, us being crazy scienti sts and all." 

 "Surprise, surprise." Hamilton raised his eyebrows , even though 

no one could see him. "No doubt you know it's not a  nuke, right?" 

 "Yes, we all figured that out rather quickly thank  you.  But 

it's almost as bad anyway. Everyone thinks it's an e-bomb. By the 
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way, there is a C130 and C17 Globemaster on their w ay to your 

location now." 

 "Thanks Frank." He then told him about the crash a nd the EMP 

spike. 

 "Did you find anything, any evidence of the device ?"  

 "Yes I did, I think." Brian was explaining his str ange 

discovery when he suddenly stopped in mid sentence.  "Frank, is this 

secured?"  He should have asked that before. There was a pause on the 

other end.  Brian thought he heard Frank Cuppito sa y "shit" before 

the other end terminated. 

 While Rosenbridge was not a secret organization, t here were 

times that called for discretion, like now.  Frank had obviously been 

anxious. Brian wondered whether his hypersensitivit y to security 

mattered. Too late to worry about that, he made his  next call. It was 

after that the phone went dead. It might have been hardened for EMP, 

but not from getting crushed beneath a C130 fuselag e. The split case 

and dark chemical stains around the battery cartrid ge were all too 

obvious. Still, it had done the job. 

 

At the same time in Moscow, the satellite communica tions officer 

charged with analysing the Vostok event picked up t he print out and 

read the transcript.  Some one down there was talki ng on a hard phone 

and some one knew what was going on.  He immediatel y faxed the 

transcript and details over a secure line to the Kr emlin duty 

officer. 
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White House Situation Room 
December 4 0245 UTC 
   

"Complete communications blackout over the entire c entral 

Antarctic Plateau," Chauncey Gray, the Director of the CIA, stated. 

 "Well we know it's not nuclear, Chauncey; what was  it?" 

President Blaire asked. He wanted to make sure they  did not miss 

anything by assuming something, regardless of how o bvious it seemed. 

 "Massive electromagnetic pulse.  Only thing that c ould do that 

is an e-bomb.  But even we don't have one with that  radius." 

 "You sure? I mean, that it's a magnetic pulse." 

 "Absolutely, it's been confirmed from someone in V ostok who had 

a hardened phone and recorded a massive electromagn etic spike." He 

looked at the visitor. 

 The NSA glanced quickly to the new Secretary of De fense, some 

circuits were coming together. They were all seated  in the White 

House Situation Room. The Secretary of Defense look ed at Kasiniia 

Sakrov, the chairman of the Rosenbridge Foundation.   Sakrov had been 

called to the White House to sit in on the meeting.  

 "So you should know about the Herc then," Sakrov s aid.  

"Crashed on the runway at Vostok, unbelievable, no injuries. The 

aircraft lost its wings, snapped in half and is bur ning right now, 

but everyone got out."  

 “Yes, thankyou Kasiniia, Alex relayed the informat ion straight 

away.” The President said. Without that information  they would truly 

have been blind to what was going on. 

 Sakrov was still thinking of the crashed aircraft.  It had been 

late leaving McMurdo.  It had been in the air durin g the time their 

normal observations had expected a magnetic fluctua tion. The magnetic 

anomolies they normally observed were a mllion time s smaller than the 

electromagnetic pulse that had brought down the Her c. Strange...  
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 Perelli took it all in and looked back to the Pres ident. "Sir, 

as you know we are currently being blamed by almost  every country on 

the planet for e-bombing Vostok.  This in turn has provided the 

Russians, Chinese and anyone else with aspirations to Antarctic real 

estate, a prime time excuse to push in military for ces. I have 

invited Kasiniia Sakrov to the meeting because it's  his man on the 

ground.  It appears this guy may well have the evid ence we need to 

diffuse the mess and prevent a major conflict.  If China or Russia 

pushes in, we will have to follow suit.  There is a bsolutely no way 

that we can allow them, or anyone else to control t hat oil." 

 "We do not want to be the reason for starting a wa r either," 

Blaire said.  "But I agree."  He turned to Sakrov. "I understand your 

people have a great deal of interest in electromagn etic anomalies."  

 Kasiniia Sakrov nodded.  

 "Well, in this case," the President said, "it seem s you have 

tripped over a big one. Do you think it's an e-bomb ?" 

 Sakrov looked uncomfortable.  "Perhaps, Mister Pre sident, 

perhaps not." 

 "All the others here do," President Blaire said. " At the moment 

I am inclined to agree with them.  But I always kee p an open mind. 

This evidence your man has could be crucial to us, proving we didn't 

cause the event. Will your man be happy to hand it over?" 

 "Of course Mister President." 

 "Good. We need to get that evidence secured and ba ck here 

ASAP." 

“By the way, what exactly does this thing look like , obviously 

small enough for a man to carry?” Chauncey Gray ask ed, closing his 

personal note book at the same time. 

Sakrov repeated the description Frank had provided him. The 

Deputy Director of the CIA stopped what he was doin g and looked 

directly at Sakrov. “Say that again…” 
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Vostok Station - 
������  ��	��
�  
 

Back at Vostok Station's East enclave, Brian waved his hands in the 

air.  Everyone was asking questions at once. "Okay.  Relax. We have 

two birds in the air as we speak, coming to pick us  up. A C17 and a 

C130." There was a chorus of whistles and yahoos. " I suggest we get 

some sleep and relax." This was met with a lot of ' boos', 'sod off' 

and other derogatory comments. Someone had obviousl y found the vodka.  

He looked at Rabbit, who gave him an innocent shrug . 

 

Canberra Australia  
The Prime Minister's Office.   
December 4 0315 UTC.  
 

The Australian Prime Minister, Dennis Gordon, sat u neasily in his 

chair. "So it's Hamilton again." 

 "Yes Sir, Colonel, still on the reserve list.  He called a 

short time ago, apparently the only one with a Sat Phone that works 

down there.  Or did work anyway," he added. 

 "What about the Russians and the Chinese?" 

 "Playing bloody Mary.  Think we or the Americans d ropped an e-

bomb." 

 "They don't believe we did, do they?" 

 "Emphatically." 

 "Can't we get through to them to talk to their peo ple down 

there?" 

 "Hamilton's phone appears to be off the air.  The conditions on 

the surface mean satellite imaging is showing us no thing, nor them. A 

massive low-pressure system has prevented any fligh ts into Vostok.  

We are waiting for a break in the weather to get th em in." 

 "So until then we have no idea what's going on dow n there." 

 "Nup..nada..nothing." 
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 "And neither do the Chinese or Russians.  In fact,  it has to 

look a lot worse to them," the Prime Minister said.  

 "What would you think?" 

 "Pre-emptive strike." 

 "Me too and I'm not even military. You've had the benefit of a 

long career there." 

 "If you were them what would you do?" 

 "I wouldn't wait. Wait and it's too late." 

 "What can we do?" 

 "Nothing really.  Any change in our defense postur e would 

simply reinforce their current belief.  We just hav e to hope they 

don't do anything.  If they do, we react" 

 "Comforting, Brian, comforting. What about the Tai zhou?" 

 "With the EMP event, this episode has ratcheted up  a few 

notches on the crisis meter. The Chinese have drive n her below the 

60th parallel and into our exclusion zone - present ly a few hundred 

kilometers north of the Shackleton Ice Shelf." 

 "This is an absolute nightmare," the Prime Ministe r said. "Our 

second biggest trading partner is deliberately chal lenging our 

sovereignty over that territory.  I have a hunch no w they will go for 

the oil too.  This EMP thing is really going to cro wd us." 

Geographically China could hardly be further away, he thought. Should 

Australia, in the interest of trade, lie down and l et its Antarctic 

territory go?  The fact was if you didn't defend yo ur property, you 

didn't own it.  And now this bloody e-bomb or what ever it was had 

massively escalated the whole thing to a boiling po int. He could in 

ways understand the Chinese rationale. It was clear  that after years 

of being penned in regionally, China was determined  to flex its new 

military muscle.  The choices were thin. Nations li ke China had 

developed blue water navies. The Chinese, North Kor eans and Iranians 
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possessed long-range missiles that now threatened t he Australian 

mainland.  

 The Prime Minister's last two years in office had been 

dedicated to repairing the damage inflicted on the country's defense 

and security forces by the previous political tenan t. That aside, an 

unerring dedication by Australian defense to workin g with the U.S. 

military over more than two decades had resulted in  a small, highly 

sophisticated defense force that was entirely inter operable with U.S. 

and allied forces.  In other words, they used the s ame parts, 

munitions, communications systems and logistic meth ods.  Not as flush 

with defense dollars as the U.S., the Australian in genuity had not 

only stretched the budget further, but also produce d new systems, 

methodologies and technologies that were world clas s.  Australian 

defense had turned other nations' abandoned and del inquent systems 

into unrivalled lethal weapons. 

 Gordon had already made up his mind. It was time t o put these 

good men and women to work once again. Each time wa s harder than the 

last, each time you knew you were sending people ba ck that had 

already given more than you could expect, and each time you were 

sending unblooded newbies into harm's way as well. That dwelled on 

his mind.  Would he have the courage these folk did , that much trust? 

In his heart he believed these Australians to be be tter than he was. 

He hoped the rest of the country felt the same resp ect 

 

Hasanuddin Airforce Base,  
South Sulawesiprovince, Indonesia. 
December 4. The Blackjacks Arrive. 
 

The Hasanuddin Air Force base of the Republic of In donesia (formerly 

AURI, currently TNI Angkatan Udara), was littered w ith tired and torn 

military aircraft and old commercial freight carrie rs, a scene very 

reminiscent of the aviation bone yards in the Mojav e Desert.  It was 
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difficult to tell which ones were flying and which ones were truly 

derelict.  The flight line of F16's and modern Sukh oi fighter jets 

stood out like dogs balls against the tragedy of av iation surrounding 

them.  As did the two big Russian tankers that were  preparing for 

take off and an assortment of recently purchased Ba ckfire bombers. 

 The long sealed runway shimmered in the tropical h eat clear of 

any traffic.  Unusually, fire trucks and numerous f uel tankers were 

neatly lined up near the main aircraft apron clearl y in anticipation. 

They were waiting for something.  Two large Il-78 M idas air tankers 

taxied to the active runway and ran up their engine s, one after the 

other they took off, streaming thin exhaust trails as they 

disappeared into the haze. As the men stood beside their trucks they 

would from time to time gaze to the south.  Clearly  this event was 

unusual to attract such interest. At last their pat ience was rewarded 

with the sound of the heavy jets they had been expe cting.  All heads 

turned to the southern approach.  There was a speck  on the horizon 

that rapidly grew in shape.  Its wings were spread wide and it was 

big, very big.  The aircraft flared and then landed  with the usual 

screech of tires at the far end.  It wasn't until i t drew nearer that 

the assembled mass of Indonesian military personnel  really 

appreciated the size and lethal menace of the airpl ane they were 

hosting that day. The wings had been extended for t he landing phase 

and as it taxied past the audience, they were swept  back, revealing 

the massive airframe's streamlined obsession with s peed.  This was 

the Blackjack, the Tupolev Tu160; the heaviest and largest combat 

aircraft ever built. With a maximum top speed of ov er Mach two, a 

12,000km combat radius, low radar cross section and  a 130,000kg 

weapons load, the Blackjack was a formidable long-r ange weapons 

platform that was twenty percent larger than the Am erican B1 with 

similar low-mounted variable geometry wings, large dorsal fin and 

positioning of its two powerful engines.  
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 The Blackjack that taxied along the off ramp was o ne of five 

that were refueling on the base, each aircraft a fe w minutes apart.  

Anticipating the occupation of NATO fields in the C old War, the 

Blackjacks accepted standard NATO refueling nozzles . After refueling 

and a thorough systems check, the aircraft taxied b ack to the runway 

and took off for the next long leg of their journey  over the Indian 

Ocean and then down into the Southern Sea and Antar ctica. 

 The Blackjacks were part of the 200th Heavy Guard Bomber 

Regiment from Engels Air Force Base, in Russia.  Th e lead Russian 

pilot, Ivan Grigor'ev Nagoi, looked into the darken ing sky. Fading 

behind were the lights of the Javanese AFB Atang Se njaya - the last 

land they would see for some time as they headed de ep into the Indian 

Ocean and south to their intended target.  His airc raft was numbered 

07 and named after Aleksandr Molodchii, a famous So viet wartime 

pilot. She was one of the latest in the Russian fle et of Tu160s which 

with recent new additions brought the total operati onal numbers to 

21. The companion aircraft were number 01 - Mikhail  Gromov  (the 

legendary Soviet test pilot after whom the Gromov F light Test Center 

at Zhukovsky was named.); aircraft number 04, the I van Yarigin; and 

aircraft number 02, the Vasiliy Reshetnikov.   

 Later, after a quiet and uneventful flight and jus t at the 

right moment, Nagoi slowed the aircraft and swept t he wings forward.  

The familiar and always welcome Il-78 Midas aerial refueling tanker 

was just visible against the backdrop of stars. Unl ike a lot of big 

aircraft, the Tu-160 had a fighter-like control sti ck for flight 

control rather than control wheels or yokes. Ivan g ently eased the 

stick over to slide behind the tanker, carefully pu lling back on the 

throttles as they drew closer.  He then extended th e retractable IFR 

probe located in the nose of a fuselage directly in  front of the 

pilot. The small light on the end of the drogue chu te guided him in.  

Expertly he nudged the basket with the fuel boom al most feeling the 
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satisfactory click as it connected. The fuel indica tor lights turned 

green and 2200 litres per minute of fuel flowed int o the bomber's 

tanks. After topping off, Nagoi gently pulled back from the basket 

and slipped the aircraft sideways to allow the next  thirsty Blackjack 

in for a drink.  

Normally the Midas could refuel three aircraft at a  time with 

its three-point tanker probe and drogue, but becaus e the SU160 was so 

big, only one aircraft could plug in at a time with  any margin of 

safety. It also took two of the Il-78s to satisfy t he full flight of 

bombers. One by one in the darkness they plugged in  and topped off 

their tanks. Fuelling completed, they bade farewell  to the tankers, 

which turned north, the flight of bombers headed de eper south.  

 

White House Situation Room 
 

Chauncey Gray, the Deputy Director of the CIA held two fingers up.  

 “Two, maybe we have two already.” Sakrov’s descrip tion of the 

metal rod carried by Hamilton had immediately remin ded him of the 

Quinn River finding. It was the sort of thing witho ut answers that 

you didn’t forget. Maybe they were a step closer. 

“Let me get some imagery so you can see what we are  talking 

about.” He called Stringer from his mobile and a mi nute later had the 

Quinn River images transferred to his phone. He han ded it to the 

President. 

Blaire examined the pictures and passed it to Perel li who then 

passed it on to Sakrov. “Where did you say you foun d these?” Blaire 

asked. 

“Northwestern Nevada, in a quarry.”  

“That means they could come from any where…dumped t here, 

disposed of, those places are full of junk. Metal r ods like these 

could come from anything.” 
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“Normally that might be the case, but like the one in Vostok 

its not just what it is, but where. The particular quarry we found 

our pair in intersects what is called the Lower Tri assic Quinn River 

Formation. And it’s not just this quarry that’s int eresting its how 

we found these rods there.” He retrieved the phone and scrolled 

through to another set of images handing it back to  the President. 

“That’s how we found them.” 

The Presidents closely examined the pictures and th e 

descriptions. “I see what you mean. Amazing, so we know what they are 

then.”  

“We wish. Fact is even after ten years we don’t hav e a clue.” 

“So you didn’t cut one up...see what made it intere sting?” 

“Unfortunately yes.” He explained what had happened . 

 “Crap.” The President held the phone looking at th e images 

thoughtfully. “So IF…the Australian has one of thes e, not only might 

that explain the EM event, it might explain what th e hell these 

things are as well. Might be the proof we need to u nravel this mess.” 

“Yes…” Grey replied, hesitating, “also means it mig ht not be in 

our best interest to tell anyone what we have until  we know what it 

actually is...that we have.” He looked around. “Thi s guy Hamilton…” 

He thought for a moment, “his artefact is a lot mor e 

interesting…doing more stuff than the ones we have. ” 

“The one you have left you mean.” The President cor rected. 

 “Yes.” 

  “More reason then to get it back before anyone fi nds out about 

it.” 
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Canberra Australia  
The Prime Minister's Office, Orders the thump on th e Taizhou.   
December 4 1100hrs UTC/Dec 4 2100 local.  
 

The Prime Minister's office was jam-packed.  It was  not the normal 

place to hold such a meeting, but had to do. It was  host to the Prime 

Minister's hand-selected crisis committee.  The new  Situation Room, 

similar to the Americans setup wasn’t quite ready.   

The extra heads in the room were key stake holders,  Gordon 

didn't like advice sifted through the echelons of p olitical and 

administrative machinery, even if all intentions we re good.  In a 

crisis situation he liked to hear everything from t he lion's mouth, 

which meant each meeting would welcome the key play ers from the 

coalface.  

 Which was why Squadron Leader Lance Hamilton, Comm ander No. 13 

Squadron (F-111 Strike and RF-111 Reconnaissance) w as present. This 

was not usual, neither was the situation. 

 The Prime Minister skipped the introductions; ever yone knew 

each other already. Gordon looked serious, but pret ty pissed off.  He 

had been chewing over the problem all night and he moved straight 

into it. "The situation has deteriorated rapidly. J ust three hours 

ago I asked the Chinese Ambassador to urgent consul tations.  I was 

informed he was unable to attend and now understand  he has been 

recalled to Beijing. As you all know the warship Ta izhou has passed 

into our eastern non-exclusion zone and is below th e 60th parallel. 

As a consequence we have sent an official notificat ion to the Chinese 

demanding the Taizhou to leave the area immediately .  Over night we 

have sent two notifications and both have been igno red." 

 Gordon paused to let the information digest. "It's  clear they 

do not recognize our claim and unless we do somethi ng about it, any 

thread of its legitimacy will disappear with our fa ilure to protect 

our sovereign territory.  To acquiesce and do nothi ng will be 



343 | P a g e    

recognized internationally as a failure to enforce our ownership. We 

have issued a statement to the UN but now need to s end a clearer and 

implacable message that this territory belongs to A ustralia and we 

are prepared to defend it." 

 The Minister of Defense followed on. "The fact is that while 

the Chinese are massively superior militarily, ther e is a limit to 

the quality of force projection they can mount in t his area. You will 

have to excuse me here, because I am using informat ion provided by 

DFAT overnight, so feel free to correct me.  The cl osest land base is 

Martin de Vivies from which long-range aircraft can  sortie. The 

carrier task force enroute is substantial with a la rge number of 

surface ships either with the carrier Shi Lang, or following on.  

U.S. intellgence also includes a substantial number  of submarines. I 

will leave the specifics of the military threat to our experts here.  

However, it is my job to inform you that the Prime Minister, myself, 

and all our cabinet colleagues, have met in emergen cy consultation 

and every man and woman among us is steadfastly com mitted to 

protecting the sovereignty of our territories. Unti l the UN fronts up 

and decides the fate of the Antarctic claims, we wi ll not be 

intimidated or bullied. If the UN fails in deliveri ng a balanced 

decision it can back, we will protect that which we  deem is ours.  We 

are open to negotiated settlement, but will not be forced - even if 

it is the Chinese!" 

 The Prime Minister spoke. "And let me add, these a re easy words 

to say but not so easily realized.  They sure as he ll are not without 

risk.  We all understand that.  It grieves me that this government 

must face this, and that it is the men and woman of  our services that 

bear the risk and the sacrifice.  Your job is to fo rcefully, but 

politely, dissuade the Chinese from encroaching on our territory. But 

be prepared to back it up." The Prime Minster motio ned to the most 

senior defense officer. "General Morel, please cont inue." 
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 The Chief of Defence Force, CDF, Major General Dav id Morel 

stood up and walked to the center of the room. A li ttle over fifty, 

medium height with thick greying hair and built lik e a football 

player, he spoke in a voice that was not just comma nding, but 

compelling.  Morel's eyes measured his audience. "T he Russians, 

Chinese and French are accusing the U.S. of the EMP  blast and a 

covert military operation. The official U.S. respon se is that they do 

not want to move into the area for fear of further provoking the 

situation, a response we don't like but agree with.  They want to 

help, but we both realise U.S. intervention will im mediately escalate 

tensions, possibly to a nuclear threshold.  This me ans we have to 

handle this situation without immediate support fro m our primary 

ally." He paused to let this sink in.  "What this m eans in real terms 

is: if we start something, we have to be prepared t o finish it on our 

own. The Chinese won't threaten us directly, that w ould provide 

immediate authority to the U.S. to counter with wha tever military 

force they deemed necessary, including nuclear.   

 “Understanding the Chinese political thinking, the ir objectives 

and desires, is essential to us providing the appro priate response.  

Are they deliberately intimidating us or just getti ng their foot 

through the door? Under our noses they sail a capit al warship into 

our territory, despite our published protestations at the highest 

levels. They then stonewall us, virtually closing t heir embassy, and 

then patrol up and down the strip like they own it.  They believe we 

cannot or will not challenge them.  And Prime Minis ter, with your 

permission, they hold no value in our continued rel ationship when it 

clearly gets in the way of their aspirations in the  Antarctic oil 

fields. 

 "Their aircraft carrier, its task force and a subs tantial fleet 

of escorts are now less than a day's sailing away. They figure they 

have separated us from our U.S. protector and we wi ll not confront 



345 | P a g e    

them. With the UN Security Council dominated by the  Chinese, Russians 

and the French, there is no expectation we will be listened to.  

After all, each of these nations is an accomplice t o an act that is 

designed to usurp the world's greatest energy resou rce. 

 "Our distance and our isolation have long been our  protection.  

The enemy, as we now must view them, think that is our weakness. The 

current strategy is a well thought out plan by the Chinese.  With the 

Rhino’s now operational and our recent acquisition of the JSF, we are 

in the middle of training aircrew on a new aircraft .  As far as the 

Chinese and Russians are aware, we mothballed our F -111s nearly five 

years ago. The Taizhou is well out of practical ran ge for either the 

FA-18 or Super, even with tanker support. 

 "The Taizhou is several thousand kilometers from a ny airbase.  

These guys feel pretty secure in the fact we cannot  challenge them 

from the air.  Since they carry SS-N-22 Sunburn ant i-ship cruise 

missiles, Sizzlers and other highly capable offensi ve systems, they 

feel pretty safe from any surface threat as well. A nd they are right.  

Beneath her are probably layers of Kilo and Akula I I Russian-built 

subs. 

 "So what do we do? We could use our Collins Class subs to 

threaten her.  But since we aren't actually shootin g at anything yet, 

I can't see the point in exposing their operations and their 

potential use later.  Better the Chinese use up the ir assets looking 

out for them than playing that card too early." The  General paused 

again, getting closer to the point. 

 "I agree with the Prime Minister: we have to be de cisive and 

able to demonstrate our ability to strike.  Even gi ven that mandate, 

what I propose is somewhat audacious.” The General paused, “When this 

threat first arrived on our radar screens we immedi ately went through 

our options. Needless to say at that stage it was w ay too early to 
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know what might be required.  However, our job was to ensure we had 

those options on the table and to be prepared.   

 "The option we are about to propose is an idea we had a few 

days ago that we believed might work, but hoped we would not have to 

use.  Due to the lack of alternatives and the effor t of some 

exceptional staff, it's turned into an operational plan. Given the 

collapse of the diplomatic effort, it now seems the  Pig might be our 

best response." 

 There were a lot of surprised looks in the room. 

 "There is only one aircraft that has the capacity to take on a 

threat like the Taizhou over such long distances.  That aircraft is 

the F-111. We ceased operation of those several yea rs ago. However, 

most of the fleet was retired operational and the a irframes you see 

in museums and hanging around as ornaments, almost all of them come 

from Nevada. The good airframes were signed off to a special project 

located in central Australia managed by Patrick Boo ne and his company 

MacDowell Aviation. 

Right at this minute we have on the ramp over six P igs mission-

capable. Within the next few days we will have 35. We propose using 

the F-111 to pay a visit to the Taizhou.  This will  let the Chinese 

Navy know, and anyone else, that we have the legs t o protect our 

territory." 

 "What about ground and aircrew?" one of the crisis  team asked. 

 "That was the hard part.  Boone and his crew have been a god 

send and we tracked down anyone we could find with F-111 experience.  

A lot were still serving, which made it easier.  Ot hers we had to 

find and drag in the hard way." He glanced at Hamil ton. The faces in 

the room looked worried.  

 "There's going to be significant opposition to thi s after the 

fact.  Using a 50-year-old fighter to tackle a 21st  century opponent, 

it doesn't sound smart, does it?" the Deputy Prime minister asked. 
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 "That's a good question.  A good number of you kno w this. The 

Pigs, as we often refer to them, are still the fast est, most 

sophisticated long-range strike fighter in the worl d today.  It might 

be over 50 years old, but over the years we develop ed that machine 

and the men that fly it to be the best. Let me intr oduce you to 

Squadron Leader Lance Hamilton. He is the most expe rienced F-111 

driver we have and has substantial combat experienc e in this aircraft 

and others.  The Squadron Leader is also a proven a nd exceptional 

mission planner and is the author of our current op s plan in addition 

to leading it."  

 Hamilton stood up and eyeballed the room. "In keep ing with 

trying to keep this response low key, but passing a  strong message, 

we are proposing a Mach two, low-level pass over th e Taizhou.  The 

shockwave will shake her from stem to stern.  It wi ll also let them 

know we can reach them anywhere in our territories. " 

 There was a heavy silence. "We can do that?" someo ne said from 

the back.  

 "We can Sir, and with permission will. The Pigs wi ll be loaded 

with live Harpoon and AMRAAM missiles.  The Chinese  surveillance 

photographs will make no mistake in recognizing the  live ordinance." 

 "This sounds like really risky stuff. How do you k now they 

won't shoot?" a worried Defense Secretary said, app arently voicing 

everyone's thoughts judging by the nodding heads ar ound the room.   

 "Good point. Basically we don't."   

 There was silence again as everyone absorbed the i nformation. 

 "In fact," General Morel said, "we rate a 50-perce nt chance 

they will." His face hardened. "These guys are play ing hardball.  

They really don't believe we have the nerve to take  it to the next 

level.  If we let them stare us down on this issue,  we have 

absolutely no way of stopping them move whatever th ey want onto the 
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ice.  To fail here is an admission to the world com munity we do not 

believe in our own territorial claim." 

 "Let's take this in steps," the Prime Minister sai d. "On first 

glance this appears a tough balanced response. The last thing we want 

on our hands is the unnecessary blood of Australian s or anyone else 

for that matter. But let's be clear. We are not acc epting 'No' from 

the Chinese. This is not Tibet.  This is not their territory. They 

will receive this final warning.  If the Taizhou fa ils to leave the 

area, the instruction is to either disable or sink her. If she takes 

any hostile action before hand, the same applies.   

 “The Chinese government will be advised of this, t his 

afternoon. If after this incident any uninvited for eign vessel enters 

our territory the same will apply. One warning thro ugh diplomatic 

means with a three-hour response time." The Prime M inister looked to 

Lance. "Since it's your ass you are putting on the line, Lance, why 

don't you give us a quick synopsis?" 

 Hamilton stood up; the RAAF dress uniform fitted h im well, his 

face looking calm and confident.  "Thank you sir." He walked over to 

the white board on the sidewall that also had a lar ge map of 

Australia stuck to one end.  "First of all, to foll ow on your comment 

about the task force - the Shi Lang, formerly the V aryag, is not a 

new addition to their fleet but its operational sta tus is an 

unwelcome surprise. The Chinese purchased this from  the Ukraine, 

supposedly to join the Kiev and the Melbourne as am usement 

facilities. But in secret, they paid for the comple tion of the 

carrier, finalizing the fit out in its Zhonghua shi pyards in Shanghai 

ostensibly as a training vessel. AS you know they h ave two other 

60,000 ton carriers, both only recently commissione d.  

 “The Shi Lang (Named after the Chinese general who  took 

possession of Taiwan in 1681) pennant number 83 is a variation on the 

Kuznetsov Class conventionally powered carrier, dis placing roughly 
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65,000 ton and carrying naval versions of the Su-33 , the MiG-29K, Su-

25 and several more.  If she gets within range, our  capacity to 

project any offensive capability on the Taizhou, Ha ngzhou, Haibing or 

the ice breaker Hongze diminishes, if not evaporate s. The planned 

T/O, sorry, take off time, is now 1200 tomorrow. If  we can do that, 

we can make some waves for our Chinese friends. 

 "We can deliver six operational F-111s with both A MRAAM 120D, 

AIM9s and block-II Harpoon missiles to sortie withi n 24 hours." 

 The CDF and Chief of Joint Operations (CJOPs) both  looked up 

after conferring with each other.  There was a quie t nod from the 

Prime Minister followed by similar gestures through out the room. 

 The CDF spoke. "Okay Hamilton, you have a GO. T/O 1200 hours 

tomorrow. Also make sure you have as many of those birds available to 

fly as soon as possible; this may not be the end of  it.  We will want 

75 Squadron to provide top cover on the return augm ented by Rhinos. 

With the Prime Minister's permission, I would also like to call on 

our Active Reserve pilots.  With three generations of jets on the 

ramp at the time we will need as many helmets as we  can get."  

Hamilton nodded and began heading to the door. The General held up 

his hand.   

 "No, wait here.  This is going to be a combined fo rce exercise.  

I want you and your team fully briefed on this and want your input. 

You are going to be facing the guns, not us." He th en turned his 

attention to the senior Naval Officer, Vice Admiral  Nick Jansen. 

"Nick, fill us in on your side of the fence.  I kno w you have been 

busy ever since we learned of this." 

 

The Chief of Joint Operations (CJOPs) stayed seated .  He was a big 

man with an equally big voice. "HMAS Waller, Collin s, Farncomb, and 

Rankin are already en-route to designated patrol ro utes in the 

Southern Ocean. HMAS Sheean will follow in seven da ys." The Admiral 
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looked around him.  Despite the sombre mood, there were genuine looks 

of 'well done' amongst those there, even some smile s. The Admiral was 

well liked and trusted. The Collins Class submarine  had received a 

really bad and undeserved beating in the press, esp ecially on mission 

readiness. This turnout was exceptional. 

 "That's a pretty bloody impressive turnout for a d ud sub," 

General Morel said sarcastically. "Due to the fine efforts of the 

Admiral and many others, our boats are now the best  diesel boats in 

the world. These hunter-killers are among the best in the business, 

right there with Sea Wolf and Virginia class boats when it comes to 

taking names." 

 The Admiral allowed himself a tight-lipped smile. "The Frigates 

Arunta, Parramatta, ANZAC and Warramunga are en-rou te but will not, 

as directed, challenge the Taizhou. These will be l ed by the latest 

Aegis equipped Air Warships. Senator Shehan," the A dmiral said 

nodding to the legislator seated at the table, "has  spoken with our 

New Zealand colleagues and they have promised the T e Kaha and Te 

Mana, as well as Hercules transports and SAS suppor t. This will give 

us a total of 10 missile frigates, three destroyers  and, within days, 

five Collins Class subs in the area of operations. The two carriers 

are being rushed into operations as we speak. We wi ll also be 

recalling the fast movers Longreach and Alice Sprin gs." 

 Not bad for a couple of rat bag little countries h iding in the 

South Pacific, the Prime Minister thought.  It was moments like these 

that made you understand what Australians were all about. 
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Media. Int.  

For Immediate Release. 

UN Condemns Antarctic EMP Attack 
By Vincent Gray, Media Int. Press Writer. 

 

Dec 4, 1234hrs Geneva. The United Nations was in immediate and broad 

condemnation of the use of an EMP device in Antarctica.  The UN Russian 

Ambassador charged the Americans with escalating an already explosive 

situation. The Americans for their part emphatically denied any responsibility 

for the EMP blast and pointed out that one of their own aircraft was a casualty 

of the event. Following the EMP debate, the Australian Ambassador to the UN 

informed the assembly that Australia was asserting its territorial claim and 

would actively defend it.  It advised all countries, until the current crisis was 

resolved, to remove all their personnel from its territories.  In addition, the Australians stated they would exercise a 

200-mile coastal exclusion zone around all Australian territories and that the presence of the Chinese warship, the 

Taizhou, in Australian waters was deemed a hostile provocation The Chinese and Russians delegations reacted 

immediately, stating they did not recognise any claims to the Antarctic and would view any move to prevent their 

free passage through the region as illegal and an act of hostility.   They further moved for an immediate sitting of 

the Security Council to resolve the matter. The Russians, in response to the escalating crisis in the Southern Ocean 

have ordered a powerful division of the Northern Fleet to put to sea, including the heavy missile cruiser Petr 

Veliky, the Kirov Class, Peter the Great and the heavy aircraft carrying cruiser Admiral Kuznetsov.  These are to 

join the Pacific Fleet forces already operating in the southern Indian Ocean and Tasman Sea. End 
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Canberra, Australia. 
December 4 2030hrs (UTC). December 5 0830 hrs local . PM finds out 
about Blackjacks out of Indo. 
  

"So that was a big zip, huh.  Nothing.  They really  want to 

stick it to us, don't they?" The Minister of Defens e was prowling 

backwards and forwards across the PM's office. 

 "No, it's not a matter of that. You know that too.  You're just 

pissed off they are ignoring us.  So am I, but this  is all about 

energy, oil.  This is really crucial to them; I can  even understand 

their thinking. We just happen to be in the way. Bu t it doesn't 

change the fact we are not going to give away our r ights in 

Antarctica, our claims, any less than they did in H ong Kong and 

Taiwan." 

 There was a soft knock at the door. An Army office r - an 

Artillery Captain, the Prime Minister noticed - ste pped into the 

room. "The briefing is ready Sir." 

 "Thanks Jack." Gordon made a point of knowing name s. The young 

Captain was a little surprised by the fact the Prim e Minister knew 

his name. It was a small thing, but he left the roo m feeling an inch 

taller. 

 "This the Blackjack stuff, right?" the PM said. Hi s mind 

wondered a little bit because of the Captain's name . Funny how those 

things converged sometimes, it made him suddenly th ink he might have 

muddled the names. What were the chances? 

 The Prime Minister and Minister for Defense joined  the defense 

briefing, walking directly from the PM's office to the Ministers' 

conference room.  As they entered the room, a large  map of the 

northern Australian coastline and the Indonesian te rritories 

dominated the overhead display.  The two men barely  had their 

backsides in their seats when the Army Captain laun ched into the 
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briefing.  There was a real air of urgency. The Def ense Intelligence 

briefer, Captain Jack Cornell RAAC, ran the infrare d pointer down 

from just above Jakarta to just above Christmas Isl and. 

 "U.S. intelligence has kept us informed ever since  the flight 

left Engels. We picked them up climbing out of Indo nesian airspace. 

We intercepted the flight 10 minutes ago. They had a low radar 

signature, so at first we thought they might have b een Indonesian 

F16s or Sukhois.  However, they kept heading south.  We subsequently 

scrambled two F-18E’s out of Darwin to investigate. " 

 "That was the first time you realized they were th e Blackjacks 

the U.S. had warned about?" the PM asked. 

 "Yes Sir, we intercepted them using JORN and passi ve EM then 

went for a visual confirmation and show of force." 

 "So where are they now?" The PM kicked himself; he  was getting 

in the intelligence officers face, not giving him a  chance. 

 "500 miles southwest of Perth at 38,000 feet cruis ing at 650 

knots.  We have no reason to believe that these fiv e aircraft are up 

to any good.  They are, however, over international  airspace and 

until they do something wrong there is not much we can do." 

 

SSppeecc ii ff ii cc aatt ii oonnss   TTuuppooll eevv   TTuu-- 116600  BBll aacc kk jj aacc kk     
 
Entered service     1987 
Crew     4 men 
Dimensions and weight 

Length    54.1 m 
Wing span   35.6 m swept, 55.7 m spread 
Height    13.1 m 

Weight (empty)   118 t 
Weight (maximum take off)  275 t 
 
Engines and performance 
Engines    4 x SSPE Trud NK-321 turbofans 
Traction    (dry / with afterburning)  4 x 137.20 /  245.16 kN 
Maximum speed    2,220 km/h 
Service ceiling   15.5 km 
Range     12,300 km 
Armament 

Missiles  12 x Kh-55 (AS-15 "Kent-A") or Kh-55SM (A S-15 "Kent-B" 
cruise missiles. 
12 x Kh-15P (AS-16 "Kickback") 

Bombs    free-fall bombs in place of the missiles 
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CCHHAAPPTTEERR  TTEENN  
 

 

The Tupolev Tu-160 Blackjack is the world's largest  operational bomber. 
 

 

Over the Indian Ocean. 
December 4 2000 hrs (UTC).  Blackjacks intercepted by F35/F18.  

INDIAN OCEAN DECEMBER 4 2000HRS (UTC) It was enough  to send a chill 

through any combat pilot, like being caught with yo ur pants down in 

the schoolyard. The young Russian pilot Demetri shu ddered. One minute 

they were alone in an empty night sky, the next min ute two FA-18Es 

were sitting on his port wing. Because the aircraft  had been quietly 

vectored by the Australian Jindalee over-the-horizo n radar network, 

they had not detected them until the last minute. I f this was a 

shooting war he and his crew would be dead. The int ercept was, 

however, expected, but certainly not desirable.  Wh ile his aircraft 

were not emmitting he had still expected to see the m coming, to pick 

up their search radar.  But the two Rhinos painted with Australian 

roundels with the kangaroo at their center, were pa tent evidence that 

the Australians were operational with their latest fighter and using 
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them well. He would have liked to talk to Ivan. Tha t would have to 

wait till later. 

 For four hours a rotation of Rhinos and Hornets ha d shadowed 

them.  The group's lead pilot Ivan ignored them. A fanatical planner, 

he had anticipated and prepared for just this event . The reason for 

the tanker top off was not because the bomber did n ot have range for 

its mission.  It did.  The extra fuel was taken on to provide ample 

indulgence in speed.  Ivan's escorts were neither a s fast, nor full 

of fuel as the Blackjacks. The extra effort was abo ut to pay off. 

 It was time to say goodbye to the Australian flyer s.  In a 

flickering of lights, the afterburners of the Black jacks lit up the 

night sky.  Four big NK-321 Kuzenestov afterburning  turbofans powered 

each aircraft.  In just seconds they were each deli vering nearly 

50,000 kilograms of thrust each.  The two F/A-18 Ho rnets following 

the bombers followed suit. While a fast jet, the Ho rnet, even in full 

afterburner, was not fast enough to stay with the B lackjacks.  Within 

moments the big bombers out climbed and out hauled the struggling 

fighters, disappearing into the skies of the southe rn oceans.  The 

fighters, close to bingo on fuel, had to turn and h ead for home. 

 

No. 1 Radar Surveillance Unit (1RSU) RAAF Base Edinburgh 
December 4 2000 hrs (UTC).  
 

NO. 1 RADAR SURVEILLANCE UNIT (1RSU) RAAF BASE EDIN BURGH. The radar 

controller sat back in his seat. "Shit, we lost the m. They virtually 

left us standing on the pavement." 

 "What do you mean?" 

 "I mean," the young woman said, slightly annoyed, "they put the 

hammer down and all we could do was watch them disa ppear. But," she 

added, holding her finger up, "we do have a Global Hawk."  She turned 

back to the console and switched the monitoring scr eens on her 
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imaging system to bring up Global Hawk's telemetry.   "Very faint.  

It's only just painting them." 

 "So all we can do now is watch." 

 "Basically … Yes. Watch and see." 

 "Bugger!" 

 After leaving their unwanted escorts behind, the b ombers began 

preparation for the most crucial part of the missio n. The Blackjack 

was the only aircraft in the Russian armed forces c apable of carrying 

the new Kh-101 strategic cruise missile.  Three of the aircraft 

carried 14 missiles each.  Far more than was requir ed.  Super 

stealthy, with a range of over 2500 miles, the new missile allowed 

the bombers to drop their weapons and be long gone before anyone 

realized what they were up to.   

 The crew of a Tu-160 was made up of a pilot, copil ot, 

navigator, and operator. Compared to many other ex- Soviet-era 

aircraft, the Tu-160 crew flew in positive luxury, boasting a 

sleeping place, toilet and electronic cabinet for w arming up food. 

These were far from the crews' minds as the bombers  approached their 

release point - the 45th parallel. In unison three of the aircraft 

released their entire weapons load and turned back towards the north. 

A tactical cruise missile, the KH101 was a fire-and -forget munition. 

Once released the 42 missiles had immediately conti nued their trek to 

the south, now on their own. Their electronic brain s already pre-

programmed with the mission profile and target, the y sped unseen 

towards the south to an entirely unsuspecting targe t. 

 Aircraft numbers 02 and 04 lingered on course a mo ment longer.  

They had a different mission. Climbing close to the ir maximum 

altitude of 54,000 feet, they hit the release butto ns unleashing two 

Diana-Burlak missiles. Both 02 and 04 were equipped  with the latest 

aerokosmos Burlak air-launched space transportation  systems.  The two 

Burlaks free fell from the bombers. A retarding par achute popped 
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behind each missile and then snapped free before th e missiles engines 

ignited and drove it into polar orbit. The bombers Ivan Yarigin and 

Vasiliy Reshetnikov, satisfied with a successful la unch, turned 

around, pushing their noses downhill to chase their  friends back 

home. 

 The launch of the Burlaks were neon signs in the h eavens and 

were picked up in moments by the AFSPC and the ball istic missile 

warning system in NORAD. The AFSPC operates and sup ports the Global 

Positioning System, Defense Satellite Communication s Systems Phase II 

and III, Defense Support Program, NATO III and IV c ommunications and 

Fleet Satellite Communications System UHF follow-on  and MILSTAR 

satellites. So they knew some missiles were launche d. 

 The data was fed directly to the Pine Gap facility  near Alice 

Springs. Originally code-named MERINO, the ground s tation intercepted 

satellite, telephone, radio, data links, and other communications 

from around the globe. The facility included a doze n radomes, a 

17,000 square foot computer room, and 20-odd servic e and support 

buildings. In addition to its Australian personnel,  the facility also 

hosted more than 1000 personnel from U.S. intellige nce agencies. Two 

of its ground antenna were part of the U.S. Defense  Satellite 

Communications System and were at that point of tim e supplying a live 

feed to a joint services defense team gathered to m onitor and, if 

necessary, react to the highly unusual visit of the  Russian bombers 

into southern airspace. 

 Near Canberra, Lance was in the middle of getting his big 

fighter-bombers ready for an intensive operational sortie.  The F-111 

airframes maintained by MacDowell Aviation over the  last few years 

had been flown in from Mulka Bore.  A whole team of  RAAF, Boeing and 

other contractors were crawling over the airframes like frenzied ants 

as they prepared the aircraft. In the middle of thi s a call came in 

from Air Headquarters at HQJOC in Bungendore.   
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 "You're going to need to see this," Wilkie said.  "Let Jake 

manage the evolution while you come in here."  Jake  was Lance's 

weapons operator, a Squadron Leader and effectively  the unit's 2IC. 

"You know he can handle it. There's something big g oing down but none 

of us can figure what it is."   

 It was a quick drive to Bungendore.  Once he got t here they 

were patched into the GIG and received a live feed from Pine Gap. 

Hamilton along with the rest of the defense staff t hen reviewed the 

big bombers progress right up to the release point.  

 "No, it looks like they have released what appears  to be 

rockets.  Probably satellite boosters," Hamilton sa id.  Lance was not 

an analyst.  But he did know his trade. 

 "Could it be nuclear?" one of the staffers asked. 

 "No, wrong flight profile.  It's definitely a sate llite 

launch." Something tugged in the back of his mind.  There was 

something they were missing.  Five aircraft, two la unches.  Surely 

they wouldn't have three backups?  "Are you sure yo u have nothing 

else?" Lance asked, looking to the satellite techni cians monitoring 

the feed. 

 "Not that we can see. They are thousands of miles from 

anywhere, too far for its KH55 missiles to go anywh ere." 

 This was the sting in the tail.  The orbital boost ers were 

noisy and easily seen by surveillance satellites an d other tracking 

technologies.  There was nothing immediately threat ening about them 

as they sped into low orbit over the Pole.  At the same time, while 

the orbital vehicles fixated Allied surveillance, t he cruise missiles 

- the unseen KH101s - cruised at high altitude towa rds their targets, 

almost invisible to radar. Within minutes they were  receiving 

additional data from the two satellites deposited i n orbit by the 

Burlak missiles and updated their flight logs.  Loo king ahead, the 
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satellites steered the KH101 missiles around radar pickets and other 

threats to avoid detection.  

 A few hundred miles from the edge of the ice pack,  the cruise 

missiles dropped from altitude to skim just feet fr om the ocean 

surface. Very quickly they passed the ice shelf, hu gging the contours 

of the ice surface as they penetrated into the cont inent's interior. 

The missiles electro-optic flight path correction s ystem used a 

terrain map stored in its onboard computer to navig ate in conjunction 

with GPS to its target.   

 After Lance returned to the flight line at Canberr a, the 

Blackjack problem was still nagging him.  He stared  intently at the 

packets of Harpoon missiles sitting on the ramp, im proved weapons 

with longer range.  Several fitted to each aircraft .  You don't fly 

expensive airframes that far unless they are delive ring something.  

Blackjacks only have one job, delivering heavy payl oads, fast over 

long distance. He climbed into his car and drove to  back HQJOC. 

 Once inside he went straight to the Control Center . "What about 

101s? You guys must have seen them by now," he aske d. 

The IA looked at Hamilton. "As far as we know it's not 

operational." 

 "Crap, I heard about them years ago. The bastards just keep us 

believing they aren't ready, for just a moment like  this." 

 Clearly the analyst had been thinking the same thi ng. "Which 

would mean?" 

 "Which would mean we have……" Hamilton looked at th e map. "We're 

too late if it's a coastal target and maybe we have  fifteen to forty 

five minutes to figure out…" He stopped in mid sent ence. "Shit!" It 

dawned on him. "They are going after Vostok!  They wouldn't dare risk 

an all-out conflict yet, but are obviously pissed o ff about the 

supposed e-bomb and believe we are running all over  the base.  They 

are going to play dog in the manger. This is a deni al strike!" 
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 Faster than a game show contestant who didn't need  any more 

guesses, the IA hit the buzzer.  The alarms started  to ring around 

the compound and all the way to Langley and the Pen tagon. 

 

Lance Hamilton was really impressed. They might hav e all been HQ 

staff pukes, but they didn't muck around.   A room previously with 

many empty seats was suddenly full. They must have all dressed on the 

run. Apart from the odd rumpled shirt here and ther e, these people 

were ready to go. 

  "Well, if I'm not wrong we have thirty plus cruis e missiles on 

their way to Vostok," Hamilton announced in the con trol room to 

stunned silence. 

 "While we were watching the satellite launch, the cruise 

missiles were already in the air.  Look at this," t he CIA analyst 

said, throwing the replay from Global Hawk on the s creen. "Why did 

these three birds turn away before the launch of th e satellites, 

especially if they were supposed to be backups?" He  let that sink in. 

"The KH 101 is operational.  We have already seen i t's stealthy; now 

we are about to witness what it can do on target." 

 "Do we still have a comms blackout?" 

 "Yes.  The only communications we have with Vostok  was with 

that Rosenbridge guy." 

 "Sorry? Who did you say?" Squadron Leader Lance Ha milton asked. 

 "Rosenbridge you mean?" 

 "Yes, the Rosenbridge thing. What guy?" Hamilton a sked again. 

 "This is the bloke with the only communication tha t survived 

the EMP event, seems he had a hardened Sat Phone." 

 "The Rosenbridge guy, I am also willing to guess, is Brian 

Hamilton?" Lance asked. 

 There must have been a lot of Hamilton's in the wo rld, what was 

the probability of that? "Don't tell me you are rel ated?" 
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 Lance paused, thinking hard. "Yes, he's my brother ." He 

couldn’t help the stupid thought ‘and he ain't heav y’ floating 

through his mind, he pushed it aside. "And there is  a reason he has 

the hardened communications, to protect against EMP  affects."  They 

all looked at him. 

 "No time to explain; get him on the phone NOW.  Te ll them to 

evacuate immediately.  And somehow let's get a mess age to Vostok." 

 "Not possible." 

 "What do you mean?" 

 "The phone appears dead." 

 "Shit. Shit! Shit! Shit!" he said to himself. 

 "We have a Starlifter and C130 in the air out of M cMurdo now." 

 "Too late," Lance said. In his mind he could see h is brother in 

the snow, unaware that death was approaching. He gr ound his teeth. 

Brian would tell him off for that. 

 

Moscow/ ��	
��  
December 5 0600hrs UTC. 0100 hrs theatre time. Read  transcript of 
Brians Sat Phone Message. 
 

Colonel-General Mishka Kazakov read the transcript again.  The mouse 

was back. The part that did not fit the puzzle, a h ardened commercial 

satellite phone. The first call was clear.  The sec ond encrypted. 

Hamilton he had said. He picked up the phone. 

 "Get me Admiral Vladimir Kuroyedov. Quickly," he s napped. A few 

minutes later he heard the click of the ancient pho nes as they 

connected. "Admiral, I have another rather urgent j ob." 
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Vostok Station, East Enclave/ 
������  ��	��
� , ��	������  
��
���  
December 5. 0800Hrs UTC.  Brian anticipates cruise missile strike, 
prepares base personnel. (Rabbit etc) 
 

While the others had a few drinks, Brian fretted, s omething crawled 

in the back of his brain. Communications were down.  Many hours had 

passed.  He had been wondering what the Russians mi ght do.  Even 

Rabbit had said he thought it was a U.S. e-bomb.  M aybe it was.  

Brian had no idea.  But all of a sudden he felt lik e a target.   

 "Rabbit! Rabbit!" Brian was running through the co mplex.  

Rabbit, surprised, came bolting out of the kitchen,  spatula in hand. 

Brian grabbed the man by his shoulders and looked h im hard in the 

face. "Swear to me Rabbit. Have you talked to anybo dy outside of this 

camp?" 

 Rabbit, while being patriotically Russian, trusted  Hamilton.  

There was urgency in his eyes. "Nothing, Brian, not hing!" 

 Brian let him go.  "What do you think your superio rs would 

think if Vostok went off the map and the only commu nication they 

picked up was a U.S. Sat Phone?" 

 The little Russian's eyes lit up like Christmas tr ees.  He was 

not stupid.  He understood Soviet and Russian tacti cs. 

 "They will assume an e-bomb and a subsequent occup ation force."  

He paused. "Ooooh crap.  They will then try to deny  the place." 

 "Level it," Brian said. 

 "Yes level it, wipe it out," Rabbit offered in a v ery depressed 

tone. 

That was depressing.  Hamilton quickly wound the ho urs back in 

his head from the beginning of the emergency. "I ha ve an idea. The 

cruise missiles are pretty accurate. Your cruise mi ssiles, Rabbit, 

are very accurate."  Rabbit nodded not very sure. 

 "Well, they are, unfortunately, terribly fucking a ccurate." 

 Rabbit looked more depressed. 
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 "No, this is good," Hamilton, said. "They may well  be on the 

way, but they have to fly thousands of miles. Let's  not waste a 

minute.   All we have to do is get the people to mo ve out of the kill 

zone, right?" 

 Rabbit looked up. The Australian was a natural lea der; Rabbit 

was terribly smart as well, which is why he chose t o follow the 

aussie. 

 "All right, mate," Brian, said. "Get everyone - I mean 

everyone! - Onto the skiway now!" The expression on  Hamilton's face 

told Rabbit all he needed to know. The two men bolt ed in opposite 

directions, waking folk who were asleep and almost dragging others 

out by their hair.  The urgency was palpable. 

 "We have multiple cruise missiles on their way her e right now!" 

All of a sudden everyone was awake and listening ve ry hard.  

"Panoski, I want you to work with Russell and Rabbi t to get all the 

dozers fired up.  In the next 45 minutes we are goi ng to drag 

whatever we need from this base one mile away. Rabb it, you point to 

all the essentials we need.  Make sure you take som e blades.  We are 

going to need to cut a new skiway." 

 Panoski wasn't arguing. "Which direction?" 

 "Any. Almost any direction from here is north. Let 's just do it 

quickly." 

 Out on the skiway Brian looked at the dozers pulli ng the 

trailers. In a few hours he could be looking really  stupid if he was 

wrong. 

 

The cruise missiles performed flawlessly. As they n eared the 

Antarctic coast, they dropped to 50 feet, skimming over the 

Shackelton Ice Shelf and then the Queen Mary Coast as they began 

their 1000-mile low-level penetration of their targ et.  Hugging the 
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jagged white contours, the missile exhausts would o ccasionally kick 

up small wisps of ice.   

 Following the frozen terrain up from sea level, th ey climbed 

6000 feet, yet remained only 50 feet from the ice s urface. Each 

missile package was being steered to within 12 feet  of its intended 

target.  

 

Washington DC, the Oval Office 
December 5 0530hrs. Orders two satellites Russians launched to be 
knocked out.  
 

Almost on the other side of the planet, the Secreta ry of Defense 

picked up the phone on the President's desk. 

"It's Knopf," Pirelli said looking at the President . "He wants 

to take out the two birds the Russians just launche d. He says the 

missiles inbound to Vostok are using them for guida nce.  Wait a sec." 

He punched the mute button.   

 President Blaire was hesitant, ever since Pine Gap  had 

established the probable mission of the Blackjacks.  He looked around 

him. Vince Kipper nodded his head as did Gray and S tringer. "I 

concur. Tell him it's a GO, George."    

 "Yes Sir." The SECDEF hit the button again. "Sorry  for the 

wait.  That's an affirmative, take them out." 

 Kipper hung up the phone. "You know what this mean s, of 

course?"  

 "The nano sats." 

 "Are we ready for them?" 

 "Good a time as any.  But we will be blind below t he 60th for a 

whole bunch of hours." 

 "So will they." 

 "Not only that but if we don't face this now, they  will hit us 

at a time far more beneficial to them.  This whole thing just forced 



365 | P a g e    

our hand a bit earlier than we wanted, but we just have to live with 

it." 

 

At nearly 60,000 feet, a specialized B52L ABL syste m rotated its nose 

turret to look into space.  In a few minutes they w ould use the 

common ingredients for making shampoo to shoot down  a satellite 

nearly four hundred miles away. 

 Located where the bomber's cavernous bomb bay used  to be was a 

Chemical Oxygen Iodine Laser, a COIL gun.  Normally  used for shooting 

down ballistic missiles, it was also pretty useful at shooting 

anything in clear air, or space.  The ACTS was a 20 0 kW-class 

supersonic COIL that utilized a rotating disk oxyge n generator 

coupled to a Mach 3 supersonic nozzle.   

 Basically the COIL was a chemical laser that conve rted energy 

from a chemical reaction into laser photons.  These  laser photons 

were directed by an incredibly complex mirror syste m to shoot a beam 

hundreds of miles without divergence. Unfortunately , all the things 

we experience with a common flashlight also affect lasers. 

Atmospheric turbulence, which weakens and scatters the laser's beam, 

is produced by fluctuations in air temperature [the  same phenomenon 

that causes stars to twinkle]. Adaptive optics reli es on a deformable 

mirror, sometimes called a rubber mirror, to compen sate for tilt and 

phase distortions in the atmosphere. The mirror has  341 actuators 

that move at a rate of about a 1000 times per secon d.   

 The ABL had something like twenty shots in the sys tem.  Locking 

onto the satellites in low orbit over the Pole was easy.  With no 

distortion in the atmosphere at that height, the sh ots were clean. 

Two shots, two kills. 

 After spending 90 minutes over the ice, the Russia n cruise 

missiles reached their terminal phase. Thousands of  miles to the 

north, the Tu-160 crews visually guided the ordinan ce to their final 
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destination.  The TV-seekers housed in the missile' s nose gave the 

T160 technicians last-second corrections as they vi ewed the target 

and guided each missile to its closure. Suddenly th e TV screens 

fizzed and they lost all telemetry on the missiles.    

 "What the hell!"  The weapons officer yelled. 

 "The satellites are down," the navigator replied. 

 The pilot turned around as far as his straps would  allow to 

look at the rest of the crew. "The missiles, they w ill find their way 

now.  Time for us to go home," he said shrugging hi s shoulders   

 The loss of the overhead satellites had little eff ect on the 

missiles as they closed on their Vostok target. The  cruise missiles 

already had inertial guidance and positional sensit ivity from 

geographic data stored on board, they were also cap able of using the 

European Union's Galileo Positioning System or the Chinese Beidou 

Navigation System, which they switched to as soon a s the two guidance 

satellites disappeared. They also optically compare d the terrain with 

what they held in memory.  The result of all of thi s was that they 

were still accurate and on target. 

 

Beijing  
December 8 0800hrs UTC.  Jianguo orders US satellites knocked out.   

In Beijing the Vice Chair to the Party's CMC stalke d the room and 

said, "The Russian President has just informed me t hat the two polar 

satellites they launched have been destroyed." 

 "Did the Americans admit this?" 

 "Of course not." 

 "What about the cruise missiles?" 

 "They think unaffected." The small man stopped pac ing. "We need 

to proceed to the next phase.  This might in fact h elp us." 

 "How?" the Chinese Party President said. 
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 "This is an escalation. It gives us the opportunit y to 

retaliate in kind." 

 "Now?" 

 "They will find out eventually.  It's better that we use this 

asset while it is worth something," General Chen Ji anguo said. "Soon, 

it may be useless to us." The nano-satellites had i n fact been 

sitting there for years.  Great achievements in the ir time, these 

miniature satellites were no more than a centimetre  across but 

included their own solar energy devices, operating systems, 

propulsion and most importantly a miniature but dea dly payload. 

 Yuen thought about that.  He was right. These litt le advantages 

come and go. Better to make the most of it. "Let's keep it to the 

south polar orbiting satellites, nothing outside of  that.  Anything 

more and we might possibly lose all of our satellit es as well." To 

knock down all of the U.S. satellites would invite disaster, 

resulting in a knee-jerk reaction from the U.S. he thought. This 

action was just right.  He smiled to himself.  In a  few minutes the 

Americans would be wondering what the fuck had happ ened. 

 "Please General." The President gestured to his ph one. "Make 

the call from here." 

 General Chen placed the call to COSTIND; the 'xin gainian wuqi' 

were going to get their first real work out. The or ders went through 

to the Chinese Academy of Space Technology (CAST), a military 

establishment with a gossamer thin veil purporting to be civilian. 

Over 45 percent of China's R&D effort was in the mi litary field.  

China was a country hell bent on military supremacy . "Be careful only 

to disable those on the polar orbit including the G PS tracking 

satellites." He added. This at least, the General t hought, creates a 

level playing field, time for everyone to pull out their compasses 

and sextants. Subsequent to the order every satelli te below the 60th 

parallel was rendered useless. GPS navigation cease d to exist, NOAA 
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polar orbiting weather satellites, NASA birds and R ADARSATS went off 

line.  Below the 60th existed an area that was blin d to satellites, 

technologically thrown into the dark ages. 

 Originally sanctioned by Chairman Mao Tse-tung, th e nano-sat 

initiative was part of the '863 Program'. Beijing's  effort to develop 

laser technology alone, employed over 10,000 person nel -- including 

3000 engineers in 300 scientific research organizat ions.  Nano-sats 

were one endeavour amongst many that were part of C hina's new class 

of concept weapons called xin gainian wuqi.  They i ncluded Direct 

Energy Weapons, coil and railguns, high power micro waves and particle 

beam weapons.   

 

Air Force Space Command (AFSPC),  
The Space Warfare Center at Schriever AFB, Colorado    
December 5 0900hrs. UTC. Witness satellites being k nocked off. 
  

 "Holy shit!"  

 "Holy shit what?" 

 "Wait!" The ready officer was punching keys so fas t the CO 

didn't have a clue what he was doing. The man then made a call from a 

list of numbers on the computer screen.  He spoke i nto the mike that 

was part of his head kit. "Same with you … yep … ye p, me too, exactly 

the same.  You check with anyone else?  Okay, go th rough the 

procedure; let me know if you find something you th ink I should 

know." He coded the connection on the screen and tu rned around to the 

Air Force Space Command's commanding officer standi ng behind him.   

 "We are down!" he stated. "Big time!  Somebody jus t took off 

the air every satellite asset that passes through t he 60th parallel 

south." 

 The general didn't look surprised; he had been in the center to 

watch the laser shots. "Why do you assume someone t ook them off the 

air?" 
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 "Because you don't lose sixty-plus communication, navigation, 

met and military satellites in one hit. Somebody kn ew exactly what 

birds to hit and all at once." 

 The General just wanted to be sure.  It was true t hen, he 

thought.  They had constellations of allied satelli tes infested with 

those miniscule Chinese space ants. Every space ass et in the air was 

compromised.  They would have to replace every damn  one of them. He 

turned back to the Ready Officer. "All right, get t hat B52 ABL back 

on the line Captain, we have some more work for him  and his friends.  

If we are going to be blind, I will god damn make s ure not one 

Russian or Chinese satellite gets a sniff of that p lace and they are 

as blind as we are!"  He wasn't going to give them the opportunity of 

playing the game both ways. 

 "Beckham!" the General yelled. An Air Force Major appeared out 

of nowhere. "Get me a direct line to the President. " He would need 

authorization for this. 
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CCHHAAPPTTEERR  EELLEEVVEENN  
 

 

A Blackjack bomber releases a cruise missile. The K h-101’s used on Vostok were a  
propfan version with 5000 km range, originally canc elled in 2000 but reinstated in 
2012. Their accuracy is reportedly 6-9 m. 

 

Vostok Station/ 
������  ��	��
�  
December 5 1100 hrs UTC.  Cruise missiles arrive, ignites well head.  

The space drama that unfolded over the southern con tinent was unseen 

by the men and women hundreds of miles below. They congregated around 

the handful of huts they had dragged clear of the p resumed kill zone.  

Not everyone was happy with this idea and more than  a few thought 

Hamilton's logic was paranoiac. Many looked at him as if he were 

insane.   

 "You think you have this right?" Rhys Copper said,  slapping 

Hamilton's shoulder. 

 "I don't know Coop." Hamilton's reply was flat. "I  could very 

shortly look like a complete twot, especially since  I had to force 

some of these guys to move almost at gun point - in cluding the 

Russian and Chinese team." 
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 "Well, if it means anything, I'm for erring on the  side of 

caution.  But if nothing happens…I never said that. " He smiled 

wickedly. 

 Hamilton raised his eyebrows. "Thanks mate…NOT!" 

 Rhys looked at his watch, no longer smiling. "So w hen do you 

think they will arrive?"  

 Hamilton looked at his own watch. "Anytime from no w." 

 They waited.  Sitting in small groups, the scienti sts and 

reporters often looked over at Hamilton, thinking i f it weren't for 

him they could be doing something useful or at leas t be comfortable.  

The time dragged. Hamilton could tell a lot of them  were bitching. 

Rhys noticed it as well. 

 "I hear jets!" someone yelled. "At last!" They all  began to 

talk excitedly. Rhys and Hamilton just looked at ea ch other. The 

first missile flew almost directly overhead.  There  was utter dismay 

and confusion on the faces of most of the evacuees.  The moment of 

dismay was short lived as the first missile crashed  into the surface 

just five hundred yards away, detonating in an enor mous explosion of 

ice and flame. Chunks of ice bigger than baseballs pulverized the 

surface. This was quickly followed by more missiles  from all 

directions, most of them arriving with no sound her alding their 

approach.  Each missile plunged deep into the froze n surface before 

detonating in a massive explosion; an eruption of w hite snow and ice 

that was hurled hundreds of feet into the air.  Thi s was followed by 

multiple hits too many to count, the ice beneath th eir feet 

convulsing as the shock waves rippled through the f rozen mantle.  

Every now and then the explosion would be dark in c olour as the 

ordinance hit one of the buildings. The missiles we re so thick they 

landed like carpet bombs.  The explosions rippled a nd piled upon each 

other. But nobody died.  Not so much as a scratch. Eventually the 

explosions stopped. 
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 The ice around the base was cratered, blackened an d scarred.  

Debris was scattered in all directions. A light win d hissed over the 

scene of the carnage. Small clouds of ice seemingly  tried to cover 

the wounds, gently dusting the debris.  From their relocated 

position, the complete destruction of the Vostok ba se was evident. 

But it wasn't the destruction of the base which lef t Brian with the 

chill of death.  There was something much worse lef t in the wake of 

the strike.  

 

It must have been 200 or 300 feet high, he thought.  A jet of flame 

that was so many times larger and more intense than  those he had seen 

in the Kuwait oil fires. It roared like a bunch of big jet 

afterburners, pounding the air drums.   A cruise mi ssile had made a 

near direct hit on the wellhead, blowing it apart a nd igniting the 

gases.  Under huge pressure, millions of cubic feet  of methane, 

oxygen and exotic gases spewed into the air, igniti ng instantly and 

creating temperatures of thousands of degrees at th e wellhead.  

 Hamilton could see it had already melted one hundr ed feet deep.  

Every now and then there were small eruptions as ic e falling off the 

crater's walls fell into the intense heat and explo ded. Like the fuel 

bladder on the runway, Brian was surprised at the f erocity with which 

the fire burnt into the ice, over four thousand fee t below his feet 

was that big lake and he wondered what would happen  if this blow 

torch reached it. The clock was now ticking. 

 Rabbit and Panoski looked at Hamilton, who was loo king 

intensely at the fire in the destroyed base. They f elt tinges of 

guilt for unspoken doubts. Panoski spoke up first. "Good call, mate.  

What made you think of it?" 

 Hamilton turned away from the fire to look at the pilot. 

"Rabbit did," he said looking at his Russian friend . "Rabbit made me 
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think of it. The very first thing he thought of was  that the U.S. had 

launched an e-bomb, pretty simple from there." 

 "Who said they didn't?" Rabbit jumped in, still a good friend, 

but still a patriotic Russian. 

 "Quite right mate, quite right." Colonel Brian Ham ilton felt 

the steel rod against his side and a greater urgenc y. Brian and his 

group turned as they heard a commotion from the con tingent involved 

in the drilling project. It was coming from the Rus sian and Chinese 

teams. 

 "These were American cruise missiles!" the Russian  Professor 

Nelomai Ostaf'ev syn Olfer'eva Durnovo yelled.  His  other Russian and 

Chinese colleagues joined in.  They started to head  towards the 

American contingent of scientists and aircrew, clea rly laying the 

blame on them. It was inconceivable their own count rymen would 

sacrifice them in the name of oil. The U.S. conting ent braced 

themselves. It was just about to get really nasty. From nowhere, the 

thunderous sound of a heavy automatic punched throu gh the air. 

Everyone stopped. The loud and strong Russian voice  of Rabbit rolled 

over the lot of them. 

 "Back off!" he yelled in both Russian and English.  "Idiots!  

All of you.  Do you think you would be alive now if  this Australian," 

he gestured to Hamilton, "had not stepped in! Fools !" He spat on the 

ground. "Christ, and you call yourselves smart?" Th e Russian held the 

barrel level. Hamilton was impressed.  He had never  seen this side of 

Rabbit before.  The barrel didn't waiver and Hamilt on instinctively 

knew that Rabbit could, and would use it if necessa ry. 

 "We don't know who it was," the Russian continued,  his voice 

firm, commanding.  "It doesn't matter.  But we are not going to start 

World War Three here. If you want to die I will hel p you." There was 

no argument.  "Now sit down and shut up before I sh oot someone." They 

all believed him, all of them sitting down, barely a word between 
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them. The tough little Russian had really torn thei r sails and 

besides, he had the biggest gun. 

 Hamilton didn't know where Rabbit had pulled that automatic 

from, but he was really pleased he had.  When the R ussian turned, his 

face was set with anger and determination. But Bria n, despite 

himself, couldn't help but smile at him. He put his  hands up in mock 

submission. "You keep it mate, you scared the crap out of me!" The 

Russian grunted in annoyance and stalked off.  But he was smiling as 

he walked away. That bloody Australian always made him smile, but he 

didn't want him to see; he needed to look and feel grumpy, maybe over 

some vodka later. 

 It was a nervous wait.  With a complete black out on 

communications it was all guess work. When at last the sound of the 

jet engines rolled over the enclave, Rabbit clapped  his hands. The 

Australian, he thought, did have the inner eye.  He  had heard of 

this, a cunning but life saving intuitiveness. This  man was special. 

He wondered whether Hamilton's brother was the same . He knew a lot 

about both of them. 

 Moments later both the C17 and the C130 arrived.  Fifteen 

minutes after that, a far less vocal and solemn lin e of men boarded 

the big planes to head towards Scott Base and then hopefully home.  

There wasn't much left for them at Vostok. Brian ma de sure he was 

last on the plane.  Once they were on board, he did  a thorough check 

to make sure everyone was accounted for. As he took  a last look 

around he felt himself being tapped on the shoulder .  He turned to 

see a U.S. Marine Sergeant and three troopers. 

 "Sir, are you Brian Hamilton?" the Sergeant said, trying to 

look casual. Brian looked at him.  "You need to com e with us Sir," 

the Marine said, shouting over the sound of the jet  engines and 

wellhead fire. 

 "And if I don't want to?" Brian said. 
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 "We have orders to use force Sir," the man replied  with a quick 

look that begged him not to argue. 

 "Really," Brian laughed. 

 The Marine had not expected this.  The man in fron t of him was 

not intimidated at all.  In fact he seemed perfectl y relaxed, smiling 

even.  

 "Sir, let's not make this difficult.  I understand  you carry 

some important evidence."  The Sergeant didn't know  what the evidence 

was.  He was just repeating what he had been told.  

 "Maybe I do, but it's not your property.  At least  I goddamn 

hope it's not. So the answer I guess, is no." 

 The Sergeant sighed. He stood back for a moment an d was about 

to use his Sat Phone when he suddenly remembered it  didn't work. The 

Marine became nervous, undecided what to do next.  The slight 

movement of the Marine Sergeant's weapon was enough . 

 The SMG barrel had barely moved two inches in its arc to cover 

Hamilton before it was torn from the Marine's finge rs and the 

Sergeant suddenly found himself looking down the ba d end of 

Hamilton's handgun.  Hamilton stood firm, now holdi ng the Sergeant's 

SMG, safety off, which covered the other three Mari nes as he pointed 

his own handgun at the Sergeant's head. No one need ed to say 

'freeze'.  Hamilton was surprised to see just how f ast the Sergeant 

could sweat even in the cold weather. Then as quick ly as disarming 

and containing them all, Hamilton reversed the SMG,  handing it back 

to the Sergeant, the handgun disappearing back insi de his jacket.  

 The Marines, still stunned, slack jawed, watched a s he turned 

on his heel and casually walked without a word up t he ramp and into 

the waiting C130. They had never seen anyone move s o fast. 

 They obviously thought the evidence was pretty imp ortant, 

Hamilton thought.   



376 | P a g e    

 All the others had easily fitted on the C17. It ap peared he had 

his own little welcome team and the C130 all to him self. He 

considered telling them about the danger the wellhe ad fire presented.  

But there wasn't much point.  They couldn't communi cate outside of 

their immediate range either. The fire was obvious,  but not the 

danger it represented to everyone if it were to get  to the lake 

below. He would have to figure something out back a t Scott Base, 

maybe a radio relay. He badly needed to get the inf ormation out; a 

very bad feeling was developing in the pit of his s tomach. 

 

Dermont d'Urville  
The French Ice Station. December 5. 0700 UTC. Nabia lok heads to the 
Dry Valleys. 
 

Almost 1500 miles to the north, in the French base Dermont d'Urville, 

the Spetznaz Colonel, Mikolai Nabialok, stepped out  the dividers on 

the map. The technique was old but he found the vis ualization helped 

him form the plan and all its components. It was de finitely the C130 

they were after, the same one they had observed lea ving McMurdo much 

earlier with the Marines on board.  

 Let the C17 fly through first.  They had gleaned e nough 

information to know this before all the satellites died in the ass 

and from observation teams on the ground near Willi ams Field. The 

traditional approach route was to fly down the dry valleys and turn 

over the Ross Ice Shelf and back into Williams Fiel d. The wind nearly 

always blew north, katabatic, cold air flowing down  hill from the 

southern interior. Nabialok tapped the map.   

 "Here, here is where we will meet them.  We will s et up a quick 

ambush, multiple launch sites situated on both side s of the valley.  

We will each parachute as closely to our positions as possible.  This 

is going to be a low-level jump. More than likely t he Americans will 

be able to track the transport on radar. But that's  all they will 
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see."  He looked up at the men around him. They loo ked very different 

than they did a few hours ago. After receiving a wa rning order 20 

minutes previously, they were already prepared. He continued 

explaining his plan.  Twenty minutes later they wer e in the air on 

their way to the ambush site.   

 Dermont d'Urville was nearly 1000 miles from their  target area. 

So it was no short flight, but well within the Anto nov transport's 

range. Colonel Nabialok again looked at the men aro und him, a 

specialist Naval Spetznaz unit from the Russian Spe tsgruppa Vympel. 

He had 12 men in his detachment, a small group to b e under the 

command of such a senior officer.  This was not alw ays that unusual 

in Spetznaz missions.  They were all hand picked fo r each job. All of 

them were dressed in winter combat gear.  They had trained in the 

freezing north of Russia's Siberia and were used to  fighting in the 

worst of environments. It was almost like home.  

 Nabialok's task was simple. Shoot down the C130 le aving Vostok. 

Either capture or deny the enemy the evidence found  at the EMP site.  

There were no fighter aircraft within thousands of miles.  If they 

let the C130 get to the ice runway near McMurdo, th ey would lose 

their chance to recover the evidence.  Why the hell  they were not 

going to Vostok to retake the station baffled Nabia lok.  The massive 

EMP blast and the loss of all communications with V ostok pointed 

directly to a well-managed plan to take control of the station.   

 His second in command of the mission sat next to h im. Warrant 

Officer Fedor Mikhailovich.  No love lost there. In  fact he suspected 

the man hated him.  Nabialok was not the most liked  of men and he 

didn't care.  He liked his job.  The sudden and hea vy buffeting of 

the airframe took his mind back to the task, the el ements outside.  

 The Antonov 74 groaned, cracked and squeaked as it  fought its 

way through the strong northerly winds. The plane w as specifically 

designed to be used in Arctic operations.  The high -mounted engines 
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allowed operation on ice and snow strips without in gesting the ice 

and snow from the runways.  Powered by two Lotarev D-36 engines, 

developing 16,535 pounds of thrust, it could carry a payload of over 

seven-and-a-half ton. Two of them were enough to ca rry Nabialok, his 

men, snow mobiles, weapons and equipment. 

 As the two transports closed the distance to their  ambush site, 

the Russian Colonel rolled the name over in his hea d for the 

hundredth time.  Hamilton. Where had he heard that name before?  A 

common English name.  He was the target. The commun ication Russian 

intelligence had intercepted earlier had told them this man was 

carrying evidence from the site of the EMP event. G et him and the 

evidence he carries at all costs.  Use whatever mea ns necessary, the 

communication had said.  It was the sort of languag e that gave 

Nabialok a hard on. 
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Quarters. 
Jinsong takes Chinese Fleet into Southern Ocean. 
 

Admiral Wen Jinsong sat uncomfortably in front of t he large 

teleconferencing screen in his flag quarters. He wa s a very tiny fish 

in a pond of great hunters. 

 On the other end of the call, the Central Committe e Secretary 

General, Yuen Xinghua, initiated the communication.  "Shaozu," he 

said.   

 An unusual honor, Jinsong thought.  This was the n ame his 

mother had given him. Bring honor to our ancestors it meant. He had 

changed this later to Jinsong; less to live up to, he thought. 

Although he did not know how Yuen Xinghua would kno w this, he was 

nonetheless greatly honored to have this considerat ion bestowed upon 

him.  Xinghua for his part was sensitive to the mea ning of the 
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Admiral's name and knew the affect his using the ot her man's birth 

name would have.   

 "Shaozu, your brother..." Xinghua paused. "Your br other was 

aboard the Kursk, was he not?" 

 "Yes Sir," Jinsong said. 

 "He died to help bring us Ta Po." He was referring  to the 

Chinese version of the Russian Shkvall or Squall ro cket torpedo.  The 

6000-pound Shkval rocket torpedo had a range of abo ut 7500 yards and 

could fly through the water at more than 230 miles an hour.  Along 

with the acquisition of the Sunburn missiles, it wa s intended to kill 

aircraft carriers, cancelling out the threat these sea-going giants 

had over China for last few decades. 

 "But now we have the Yuan, Shang, Shi Lang and oth er vessels 

that truly project our power across the globe. U.S.  military 

superiority has chained us for years, they penned u s in like petty 

criminals, barely able to wander from our own home shores without 

being shadowed and bullied by U.S. naval forces.  A s you will be 

aware, after the outrageous deployment of the U.S. EMP weapon, our 

allies the Russians have launched a long-range crui se missile attack 

on their own base at Vostok Station, presumably to wipe out the 

invading forces of the U.S. and her allies attempti ng to gain control 

over the oil.  We support that action.  On the othe r hand, we do not 

want the Russians to become masters of the world's greatest oil 

resource either.  It is right now we can become mas ters of our 

destiny. This is a historic step for our nation and  I wanted myself 

and the members of the CMC and Central Committee to  personally wish 

you and the fleet luck in your new endeavour, and f or you to pass 

that on to your men." 

 Jinsong felt a chill run down his spine.  It was t rue then; he 

was going to take the largest Chinese task force ev er gathered, deep 

into the Southern Ocean and below the 60th.  The Au stralians would 



380 | P a g e    

not let that happen without a fight.  He had studie d them from 

Gallipoli to Iraq. His own force was superior, but the Australians he 

knew would not crawl in a hole and go away. Neither  would the bond 

between their American ally. This was dangerous pol icy. 
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CCHHAAPPTTEERR  TTWWEELLVVEE  
 

 

An Antanov 74, the type used to transport Nibialok and his team in to the dry valleys. 
 

 

 

CIA Operations Room Langley, Virginia. 
December 5. 0100hrs UTC Dec 4 2200hrs local. Kasini ia Sakrov 
Rosenbridge presentation on oil well fire. 
 

CIA OPERATIONS ROOM LANGLEY, VIRGINIA. December 5. 0100hrs UTC Dec 4 

2200hrs local.  The Director of CIA Operations, David Stringer, le aned 

confidentially towards his senior field manager Jac k Granger. "Jack, 

these Rosenbridge guys may seem a little kooky, but  they were in the 

right place at the wrong time. It looks like they m ay have picked up 

something that might shine some light on what happe ned," he said.  

 He along with several others were seated in the CI A operations 

room in Langley Virginia, receiving a briefing from  the head of the 

Rosenbridge Foundation, which was somehow intimatel y entwined in the 

unfolding Antarctic conflict. "These guys may be on  a fruitcake 

mission.  But they seem to know the science well. A nd we desperately 
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need the evidence their bloke picked up to prove it  wasn't us that 

pulsed the Pole." 

 Granger looked at him questioningly. 

 Stringer shook his head. "Jack, it wasn't us. Take  that as 

gospel. The rest of the world, though, is convinced  we detonated an 

e-bomb over Vostok.  We have to prove otherwise." H e gestured to the 

man at front. "It's their guy - Hamilton's his name  - that has the 

evidence and was, until all the satellites disappea red, our only 

communication.  Do me a favour.  Despite how kooky you think he is, 

humor him. Whether we like it or not, the ball is i n his court."  

 "This is the thing that looks like the other thing  we found at 

Quinn River right?” Granger didn’t wait for the ans wer. “We could 

just take it.  National security and all that," He said quietly. 

 "Yes we could, and we might yet do exactly that. F ind out more 

about this guy Hamilton, will you. No one seems to be particularly 

forthcoming. Sakrov is here on the President's requ est," he added. 

 Both the men turned their attention to the front a s the older 

gentleman from the Rosenbridge foundation fiddled w ith his paperwork 

on the podium.   

 "The guy standing next to Sakrov is Frank Cuppito.  He's the 'go 

for' or get it done guy," Stringer whispered.  

 The sound of the paper over the speakers was loud.  After a bit 

more fumbling, hands perceptibly shaking, he looked  up to his 

audience.  

 "We call it the Santa Claus effect," Kasiniia Sakr ov said.  

"Almost every year at the same time we monitor this  EMP event over 

the Pole. Of course we've never had anything like t his, small, very 

small, minuscule in fact.  Never made sense, never did understand 

why.  Even during the cold war, we and the Russkis had an 

understanding about this. Well, it appears these ev ents have got much 

bigger -- an e-bomb, everyone thinks.  Now we have experienced a 
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massive EMP event over the northern end of Vostok L ake, the same area 

we were interested in.  

 However you want to view the 'event'," he said, wa gging his 

fingers in parenthesis, "I believe we have at least  gathered some 

evidence that will prove this was not the result of  an e-bomb." 

Several of the audience looked surprised. "At this time we have a man 

at Vostok Station, situated here," he pointed on th e map, "in the 

center of East Antarctica on the Polar Plateau at a n altitude of 

3,488 meters." He looked at his audience. "It is th e most isolated of 

any Antarctic bases and is also known as the coldes t place on earth. 

It is also completely isolated electronically.  Eve rything except our 

hardened Sat phone was disabled. Unfortunately that  failed a short 

while a go as well. The man we have there is Brian Hamilton, an 

Australian, very nice fellow."  

 Cuppito flipped the overhead screen to a satellite  image of the 

same area.  

 Sakrov awkwardly turned to the screen. He was in i ntense pain. 

He had at best a few weeks, maybe two months to liv e. No one knew 

this yet. But the old Rosenbridge scientist did not  want to go out 

believing the world was doomed on the eve of his ow n amazing 

discovery. He pointed with his cane to the screen.  

 "In 1977 a team of international scientists discov ered a vast 

lake - Lake Vostok - beneath the ice sheet attracti ng considerable 

attention because of its unusual size and why it wa s not frozen. A 

frozen ridge separated the lake we found out later,  the Russians and 

Chinese had obviously figured this out.  While we d rilled in the 

north, they knew exactly where and what they were a fter. Of course we 

now know it was gas and oil.  Otherwise, no one wou ld really be 

interested in any of this.  

 "We all know the story thus far. But what makes al l this 

interesting now, is the bizarre EMP event. Our cont ractor, Brian 
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Hamilton, was specially equipped to monitor EMP eve nts.  Very small 

ones mind you, nothing like this.  Nonetheless, he was able to 

measure it and identify it for what it was. He was also able to visit 

the epicenter of the event and was able to retrieve  an object that 

may be related to the blast. We have asked Hamilton  to bring this 

evidence back to us so we can assess what it is and  perhaps the cause 

of the pulse. With the current loss of communicatio ns with Antarctica 

we are only aware that the C130 and C17 left Willia ms Field to pick 

up any survivors at Vostok, that's all any of us be lieve.  Correct?" 

The Professor looked at Stringer who nodded affirma tively. 

 "Prior to this blackout we had a conversation with  Hamilton."   

 "Secured?" 

 Sakrov looked at Stringer a little embarrassed.  H e had 

forgotten that part. "It was insecure." The Profess or looked at the 

rest of the audience then back to Stringer, but he and his companion 

were leaving in a hurry.  

Crap, Stringer thought. He knew that bit of informa tion was 

important, but in the rush of events had forgotten.  He turned to 

Granger.  “Get the mission team together now. Updat e them 

immediately; I will be there in a few minutes.” 

 It was the small strand that wove the fabric of lo gic together. 

There were more alarm bells going off in Stringer's  head than in a 

fire station, the phone call, why hadn’t they figur ed that before. He 

hit the speed dial on his cell phone. "Get me the C ommander, 57 Wing, 

Nellis AFB Nevada. Now!"  There was a pause as his call was 

transferred. "Pat, it's David Stringer. Yes. Yes, t hanks. I have an 

urgent mission requirement.  As you know, we have a  complete 

satellite black out below the 60th parallel.  I nee d desperately, and 

I mean desperately, to get a look at the area betwe en McMurdo to 

Davis and as far inland as we can." 
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 As the CO listened to Stringer he was already pull ing up the 

11RS status and deployment.  They already had asset s in the air, but 

not their usual fare of Globalhawks. For this job t hey had something 

completely different, a standard Tandem Class blimp . Ever since the 

emergency began they had been stealthily moving it south towards the 

area of interest. The blimp, a twin balloon, high a ltitude, low cost 

utility airship was floating at over 140,000 feet a bove the earth’s 

surface. It carried a sophisticated suite of EO, IR  and SAR sensors 

and was able to see and hear almost all the way to Vostok Station, 

but not quite. It looked anything but sophisticated , two medium sized 

white balloons, one tied at each end of a 30 foot k eel or pole. 

Normally its relatively short duration, low speed a nd cost meant it 

wasn’t much use in any conflict situation. Right no w it was perfect 

and could do everything a satellite could plus more . 

 "Wait...okay, we have three Tandems deployed to tr y to cover 

our satellite blackout." Launched just after the sa tellite blackout, 

the Tandems were still crawling south. 

 "Can we patch through communications?" 

 "We can try.  Let me see what I can do." 

 "Thanks!" Stringer said, hanging up and slightly p uffed.  He 

was running, a task he had thought was just useful for field ops. He 

then went straight to the mission room; it was pack ed, Granger must 

have put the fear of god in them to get them all th ere that fast. 

Stringer collapsed into his seat, still getting ove r the small run 

from the previous meeting to this hastily drafted g et-together of 

what he hoped could be forged into a crisis team. 

 As requested, the center's senior Air Force intell igence 

officer was starting into his briefing. "Latest inf ormation is the 

Russian Aircraft Carrier Admiral Kuznetsov is at fl ank speed from the 

Tasman Sea with several escorts.  She is currently 48 hours from 

being able to project airpower into the area.  The area of ops has 
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been an established Russian base for a long time. T he Russians could 

potentially use this to legitimize any hostile acts  as defensive in 

nature.  Prior to the comms blackout, Hamilton, wit h the artifact, 

was still on the ground and making his way back to the airfield.  The 

base is populated by scientists at this point, whic h do not represent 

a threat. A late-model C130 and C17 were enroute, 6 0 minutes from 

Vostok, diverted from McMurdo. We also know that th e Russians know 

that." 

 "Right, a call was placed by a SAT phone and the d iscussion 

involved the evidence Hamilton found. Almost every electronic sensor 

in the world is trying to find out what is going on  down there, so we 

have to assume the call was intercepted." David sai d quickly between 

breaths, "They know that, and we have to assume, we  know-they know, 

that we have retrieved evidence and are bringing it  back home."  

 "So who is this Hamilton character who has the evi dence?" 

Chauncey Gray, the Deputy Director of the CIA, aske d. 

 "We don't know.  An Australian hired by a group ca lled the 

Rosenbridge Foundation to study electronic fluctuat ions at the Pole. 

The individual was drafted randomly from a civilian  contractor 

database by Rosenbridge and matched a requirement f or arctic 

experience, and basic scientific observation." 

 "So, at the moment, we have an unknown person, hol ding evidence 

that could easily influence the entire outcome of t his crisis.  

Correct?" Gray asked. 

 "Yes Sir."  Stringer was stone faced. 

 "We have nothing on this guy?" Gray persisted. 

 "No Sir.  But we are working on it." 

 "Okay, let me know as soon as possible." He nodded  at the 

presenter to continue. David sat to catch a few bre aths. 

 "The Chinese also have two Sovremenny Class, Type 956 

destroyer’s enroute.  As you can appreciate this is  a very measurable 
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threat," the presenter said. "The Clinton battle gr oup is 23 hours 

from station and will be directly exposed to the Ch inese missile 

threat."  

 That sent a chill down everyone's back.  Purchased  from the 

Russians, they carried supersonic SS-N-22 Sunburn a nti-ship, sea-

skimming missiles that packed either a conventional  or 200-kiloton 

nuclear warhead designed specifically to take out U .S. aircraft 

carriers. 

  "They are the Hanzhou and the Fuzhou. Both of whi ch also boast 

a significant anti-air capability with SA-N-17 "Gri zzly" semi-active 

radar-guidance intermediate-range air defense missi les. The SA-N-7 

Gadfly is similar to the U.S. standard ship-to-air missiles and is 

considered one of the world's most effective interm ediate-range ship-

to-air missiles today.  If they get supported by th eir 052C Class or 

better warships with HHQ-9, a design based on the S -300, this will 

give them an umbrella of approximately 100 kilomete rs each with the 

ability to track 100 targets and guide six missiles  to six targets." 

 "Anything else?" Stringer asked.  "What about thei r new 

submarines?" 

 "The Yaun or 093’s?" 

 "Yeah.  Aren't they a problem?" 

 "Yes, but their ballistic boats at least for the m oment are 

not. They have experienced severe radiation leakage  problems and are 

currently all in dry dock, a classic deployment of Kilo, Shang and 

Han class subs is also underway." 

 "Okay, what's the OP-PLAN for Hamilton?" 

  "Relieve him of the evidence immediately and fly it out to the 

Cruiser USS Port Royal, already within Helo range o f McMurdo," 

Chauncey said.   

 Right, Stringer thought. Assuming Hamilton goes al ong with that 

little plan and you don't piss him off too much.  T he more 
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information he was finding out about Hamilton, the more he believed 

the safest place for the artifact might be with him . But he wasn't 

prepared to share that yet. He knew Rosenbridge wer e calling it an 

artifact, and since nothing was proven yet, it seem ed a good name for 

a metal rod found in the middle of nowhere that loo ked strikingly 

like another one they found in weird place. 

 

CIA Headquarters. 
 

Meeting, CIA and Rosenbridge one hour later.  Cuppi to had suspected 

the U.S. military might try to take the artifact fo rcefully, which is 

why he was there. Alexander Blake, the other Rosenb ridge man at the 

meeting, sat looking stone faced. 

 "So what are you saying?" Chauncey Gray asked. 

 "I'm simply stating the facts," Blake replied.  "A t the center 

of the massive EMP event, we discovered the evidenc e that might 

suggest what caused the blast and maybe who.  It’s probably better 

off with us at the moment, at least till its back h ere." 

 "Stringer thinks your call was intercepted, which means someone 

may try to either capture or destroy the evidence.  I fail to see how 

it can be considered secure in the hands of your pe ople when our guys 

are trained for this stuff." 

 "I understand that.  I also bet you intended to TA KE the 

artifact from Hamilton if you needed to, right?" 

 "Damn right," Gray almost yelled. "This is way bey ond an 

individual's ego!" 

 "And you are right on that score as well Chauncey.  First I'm 

asking myself whether you guys really have somethin g to hide?"  The 

Rosenbridge man looked questioningly.  

 "What do you mean?" Gray asked. 
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 "I don't know; you guys are the spooks, not us. An yway, if you 

guys gave instructions to take that stick by force,  then I will lay 

odds on, it's still with Hamilton." 

 "How do you know that?" an increasingly perturbed Gray asked.  

 "Because I don't think you have anyone available d own there 

capable of taking it off him." 

 Gray made a mental note to chase up the informatio n on 

Hamilton. "Why do I get the feeling there is someth ing you are both 

not telling me about this?"  

 Cuppito ignored the question; Blake just looked aw ay. They 

wouldn't believe their version of the EMP event any way; even the CIA 

were not ready for that information.  

 "Some Australian is waltzing around the ice with t he key to all 

this and we have absolutely no idea of what's going  on down there," 

Gray said.  

 It was a fair question. Yes, Cuppito thought, walt zing was also 

a good term. "Couldn't be in safer hands Chauncey, but I think we may 

have some bigger problems, which is the other reaso n for this 

meeting." 

 

December 5 1301 UTC, 0801 local. CIA Global Hawks s pot Nibialoks 

Antinovs and ambush. 

 

The three Global Hawks floated on thin air at 50,00 0 feet, orbiting 

well beneath the 60th parallel, communicating betwe en the Tandems to 

the south and satellites to the north. 

 David Stringer, director of CIA Operations, leaned  over the 

shoulder of the Duty Watch Officer. "Where's the Ru ssian aircraft 

now?" he said.  Looking at the myriad of screens in  front of him, the 

duty officer touched one of the larger ones and cha nged the 

magnification.  A vivid 3D map of the Antarctic Pen insula near 
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McMurdo materialized.  This was overlaid with real- time information 

from the Tandems, ground and air assets.  The offic er tapped a red 

marker. 

 "This is the Antonov 74, an improved version of th e CURL, a 

twin-engine transport, definitely Russian."  He pul led up another 

window inside the screen.  It showed the aircraft a nd its Russian 

markings.  "This photo we took this morning from on e of the Tandems's 

oblique cameras." He closed the screen. "It left th e French base at 

about the same time as the C130 left from the Pole. " He pointed to 

another green dot further up the screen.  "This is our bird.  If they 

all keep the same speed and heading, they will meet  somewhere south 

of here.  A place called the Dry Valleys." 

 "The Antonov is not headed towards Vostok?" 

 "No, it's tracking too far east." 

 "We talking to any aircraft now?" 

 "No.  The Russians and Chinese would be onto us in  a minute.  

At the moment, they don't know about the Tandems or  Global Hawks 

which have realyed COMMS via laser to satellites or  an Australian 

Wedgetail." 

 "So what is the CURL doing?  Can it shoot the tran sports down?" 

 "No, it's purely a transport, no air to air capabi lity." 

 Stringer wondered what the hell the Russians were pulling. Back 

in his office the director dragged deeply on a ciga rette;  strictly 

forbidden in government offices.  He figured if he and his staff 

couldn't keep that secret they should be in another  line of work.  It 

was easier to think when he smoked, even though he knew it would kill 

him sooner than his appointed time. The C130, if lo w on fuel, 

normally took this route; the Russians would know t his.  Half way 

through drawing back another lungful of smoke, he s topped and almost 

choked.  The Antonov wasn't there to intercept the C130. No, it was 
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setting up an ambush!  The cigarette disappeared in to the bin as he 

ran through the door and back to the Duty Officer's  console. 

 "What's the Antonov doing now?" he asked urgently.  

 "I don't know.  It got as far as the Dry Valleys a nd then 

turned west to Mirny Station. I can't…" 

 "How long before the C130 gets to the Valleys?" St ringer 

interrupted. 

 The duty officer touched the screen with a small p ointer.  

"She's just entering the southern end now." 

 "Shit - get her out of there fast.  It's an ambush , a fucking 

ambush!" "If I radiate, that Tandem's useless to us ." 

 "If we don't, we could be killing everyone on boar d those 

airplanes." 

 The Duty Officer brought up the communications cha nnels and 

aircraft identifiers. He kept one eye on a clock, t he passing seconds 

now draining away like molten gold, he tapped the t ouch screen icon 

that designated the Tandem and made an immediate pa tch to it from 

Langley. There was no time to go through official c hannels. 

 

C130 Aircraft Number 30492  
Over the Dry Valleys. December 5 1312hrs UTC.  
 

They were over the Dry Valleys beginning the let do wn into Williams 

Field.  Suddenly the aircraft stood on its wing, al most reversing 

course, the engines at full power. Moment's later t wo Strella 

missiles snaked out from the valley beneath making a beeline for the 

hot engine signatures of the ski-equipped C130 airc raft number 30492.  

The pilots were not slow and Hamilton could feel an d hear the pump of 

the chaff ejectors spewing hot decoys into the free zing air.  While 

he could not see the missiles he knew you didn't pu mp chaff as a 

joke.  They were under attack and a C130 was not ex actly the most 

nimble of birds in the air, even a late model one. 
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 The loadmaster hung precariously from the canvas w ebbing. He 

knew what was happening, but hadn't expected to be at shot by 

missiles at the ass end of the earth.  Like the loa dmaster, 

Hamilton's mind was working through the problem.  T he four Marines 

escorting him looked surprised and scared.  They ha d not reckoned on 

this set of events. 

 The sudden jolt of the first missile impacting on the port 

engine threw them on the deck.  The blinding flash of the explosion, 

holes in the fuselage and the burning engine hangin g off a wing full 

of fuel was all too evident.  The second missile ha d been distracted.  

But there would be more. 

 The Master Chief was more together than Hamilton w ould have 

guessed. Despite the chaos, he was as cool as custa rd. 

 "You done this before Chief?" 

 The Chief loadmaster looked at him evenly. "Yes Si r.  Looks 

like you have too. This isn't anymore fun, I might add, than last 

time." 

 Hamilton couldn't help but crack a smile. The Chie f cracked a 

smile as well; he knew an experienced warrior when he saw one, even 

if he wasn’t in uniform. "I forgot to welcome you o n board, Sir. 

Master Chief Andrew Wilkins."  

 "Thank you, Master Chief. Brian Hamilton" 

 The Master Chief's smile suddenly evaporated. Bria n could see 

him concentrate for a moment, obviously listening t o the pilot on his 

intercom. He nodded, turned to an overhead compartm ent, dropping the 

door and pulling a bunch of parachutes out.  He thr ew them around the 

cabin, yelling, "Put them on!" 

 The Marines now looked truly terrified. 

 Brian screamed over the sound of the roaring engin es and the 

slipstream. "Watch me." He quickly demonstrated how  to strap on the 

parachutes.  The back ramp was already dropped and freezing air 
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whipped through the fuselage interior.  He watched as the men 

struggled to buckle their chutes.  That was when th e second missile 

hit, opening a huge hole in the fuselage just rear of the wing.  

Before Hamilton could even think, he was spinning t hrough empty 

space. 
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Williams Air Force Base, Victoria, Australia. 
December 5, 1330 hrs, UTC. Pig flight leaves to har ass Taizhou. 
 

Lance Hamilton ran a gloved hand down the leading e dge slat of the F-

111.  The 'Pig' as many referred to it, squatted on  its rugged truck 

like undercarriage looking powerful and lethal.  La nce was one of 

just a handful of pilots on the planet that had in recent history 

flown the F-111C and this particular airplane was o lder than he was. 

 When the Menzies Government of Australia ordered 2 4 General 

Dynamic F-111Cs in October 1963, no one could have imagined the 

versatility or longevity of this exceptional aircra ft. Nearly 60 

years had passed since ordering the aircraft and it s planned 

replacement. Despite nearly half a century that had  witnessed some of 

the most amazing technology advancements in human h istory, the F-111 

still remained, arguably the most powerful strike a ircraft in its 

class. Supported by Jindalee OTHB/P-3C targeting, t he F-111/Harpoon 

was also the most potent anti-shipping weapon syste m in the Western 

World. 

 The F-111 had proven to be an expensive exercise i n technology 

too early for its time.  Within a short span of yea rs the U.S. had 

mothballed their fleet to make money available to t he B1 project. 

Since then Australia had remained the world's sole operator of the F-

111. With perseverance and a typical 'make do' spir it, the 

Australians had turned the Pig into a long-range st rike weapon 

without comparison.  

 Despite its age, the aircraft was a showcase of th e latest 

technology, incorporating variable geometry wing de sign, leading and 

trailing edge high-lift devices, afterburning turbo fans, a crew 

ejection module, a highly automated inertial bomb/n av package, 

automatic terrain-following radar, long-range pulse  doppler air 

intercept radar in the F- 111B, and internal electr onic warfare 

equipment that was world class. 
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 Lance Hamilton sighed. The F-111 had been taken ou t by the 

interim strike platform the Super Hornet, which in turn was being 

augmented by the joint strike fighter, the F35, of which they so far 

had received just a handful. Saying goodbye to the F-111 was like 

witnessing the passing of a good and faithful frien d.  There were a 

whole lot of reasons for phasing the old girls out - many financial, 

others based on anticipated operating environments and foreseeable 

threat. Fate, however, was asking the venerable but  still able 

airframe to soldier on.  There was still no other a irplane in the 

world capable of delivering the same weapon load at  such high speed 

down in the dirt, over such a distance. Only the Pi g, and Lance knew 

that he and it were about to be tested to their lim its. 

 

The massive F-111C, built to kill long-range bomber s and their 

supersonic cruise missiles was not designed for kni fe fights with 

lightweight MiGs and Sukhois. But Lance knew that w ith his precision 

bird he was able to deliver ordnance with stunning accuracy. Get him 

talking about his beloved Pig and it was hard to st op him. "You 

select which window of a building you want the bomb  to go through, 

and the Pig and I will do it to the nearest second anywhere in the 

world," he'd say. "I can drop 500 pounds of high ex plosive, 2,000 

pounds or even 10,000 pounds of high-explosive ordn ance into that 

building. I can do it at low level - less than 50 f eet over water or 

land. I can do it supersonic - not only at the spee d of sound, at 

twice the speed of sound and I can do it day or nig ht, and I can use 

my terrain-following radar to keep me close to the ground to do it, 

to avoid enemy detection. I can pull four gee to se ven-plus gee and 

be back for breakfast before the dust settles." 

 Statistically the F-111 was the most successful st rike aircraft 

used in the Desert Storm campaign, and no F-111E or  F-111F aircraft 

were lost to enemy fire in the highest density air defense 



396 | P a g e    

environment seen outside of central Europe. The com bination of range, 

payload, high speed and precision gave the F-111 mo re punch than the 

UK's Tornado or the stealthy F-117A, and its speed at low level made 

it extremely difficult to engage by SAMs. 

 There is no 'tactical' aircraft that can match the  F-111 in its 

key aerodynamic performance specifications.  The F- 111C was acquired 

as a 'strategic strike,' a sledgehammer force. A ba ttlefield air 

interdiction and close-air support aircraft, the F- 111 remained 

challenged only by the B-52. With 24 500lb Mk.82 bo mbs, a single F-

111 carries roughly half the bomb load of all B-52 variants other 

than the Vietnam era 'big belly' B-52D.  While mode rn strike 

technique is focused on killing high-value targets with guided 

weapons, battlefield bombardment is a niche where s heer tonnage still 

remains decisive. Doubters might consider the demis e of the Taliban 

in 2001, or the collapse of Serbian fortifications in Kosovo in 1999. 

 With two-and-half times, or better, the payload ra dius of 

typical multi-role tactical fighters, the F-111 rem ains in a class of 

its own. When finally retired in 2010, with Mach 2. 6 class high-

altitude supersonic dash performance, and Mach 1.2 dash capability at 

low level, the F-111 was arguably the fastest comba t aircraft in 

operation in any Western air force. As the previous  backbone of the 

Australian defense force structure, it allowed the RAAF to 'punch 

above its weight' in the broader region - providing  a significant 

deterrent effect. Something the Chinese had obvious ly misjudged. 
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CCHHAAPPTTEERR  TTHHII RRTTEEEENN  
 

 
An Su-33 leaving the deck of the Russian aircraft c arrier Kuznetsov 
 

 

Raaf base Avalon Victoria 
 

The lead pilot, Squadron Leader Lance Hamilton, cal led a 60-second 

"hack" to start the countdown to brake release. The  three aircraft 

squatted at the end of the runway, their jet exhaus ts shimmering 

behind them. The pilots sat, hands on throttles, se nses taut, 

anticipation crowding their thoughts. Hamilton roll ed the throttles 

forward, the two big turbofans roaring at 80 percen t rpm.  

 Hamilton spoke into his mask.  "Lead, five, four, three, two, 

one." Simultaneously all three pilots released brak es and lit their 

afterburners. The "burners" instantly increased thr ust from 24,000 to 

40,000 pounds and gave the aircrews a "kick" that j ammed them back in 

their seats. Acceleration was quick.  The scenery b ecame a blur. 

Hamilton and his navigator checked instruments for engine power and 

performance.  Rotation speed came fast. He then eas ed the stick back, 
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lifting the nose smoothly off the runway. With the aircraft free of 

the ground he used his left hand to raise the gear,  keeping his right 

hand on the control stick to correct pitch angles a nd keep wings 

level. It was all automatic, as natural as scratchi ng his nose. 

Moving his left hand from the gear handle to flap h andles, he sucked 

in the flaps and slats as they accelerated through 290 mph, 

repositioning the wings from 16 degrees to 26 degre es of sweep. As 

they approached 400 knots, Hamilton retarded the th rottles, cut off 

the burner and reduced the power setting to continu e the climb out.  

 With the Pig climbing steeply, Lance made radio co ntact with 

their departure control, scanning his radar to loca te any possible 

aircraft in front of him. It had been 90 seconds si nce he had left 

the runway. In less than 10 minutes he leveled off at 27,000 feet, 

with his fellow aircraft stacked in neat trail form ation, heading 

south.  

 Conversation with the traffic controllers on the g round was 

clipped as they steered the flight quietly through the myriad flight 

paths of commercial and private planes. The Pig's i nertial system's 

gyros and digital computers hummed in unison, accep ting the 

directions of the computer program. While Lance bus ied himself with 

course changes, speed, and other mission variables,  the electronic 

sensors in the avionics systems measured every tiny  movement of the 

aircraft, compensating for each deviation by issuin g direct commands 

to the flight-control surfaces.  In fact, the navig ation system was 

so sensitive and accurate that the Pig's parking sp ot on the ramp had 

to be surveyed to give the system the exact coordin ates of the 

mission starting point.  

 Right on schedule, the RAAF KC-30B MRTT of 33 Squa dron made 

radio contact, navigating their intercept at over 4 80 knots. Hamilton 

and his escorts adjusted their heading to close at a rate of almost 

1500 feet per second. Following the image of the KC -30B on his 



399 | P a g e    

radarscope, the lead navigator relayed course corre ctions to the 

small formation, adjusting the flight path toward, but slightly 

offset, from the tankers. At a 1000 knots closure r ate, the distance 

between them diminished rapidly.  

 When the tanker was exactly 21 miles downrange, La nce, flying 

lead, directed the KC-30B to turn onto his heading.  He spotted the 

KC-30B halfway through its turn 10 miles out. When he rolled out, the 

bombers were five miles astern, now three abreast i n loose visual 

formation. In minutes, the lead Pig was in position , immediately 

behind and below the refueling boom, ready for hook -up. The KC-30B 

began to offload its JP8 jet fuel. One by one the t anker's boom 

operator inserted the refueling boom into the small  receptacle just 

behind each F-111's cockpit while it flew in very c lose trail 

position behind the tanker.  

 The Pig was very heavy and slippery in flight. Des pite controls 

specially designed to adapt automatically to almost  any altitude and 

airspeed condition, when you pulled the power off t he F-111, it just 

kept going. This meant for newbies, continual corre ctions with 

throttles and airbrakes or boards and burners as th ey would say. 

After so many hook-ups and hours of refueling pract ice, Hamilton had 

developed a feel for the correct position behind th e boom, the hook 

up and transfer seeming casual and easy. He was thi nking about Brian 

when the boomer suddenly broke into his thoughts ca lling a 

"Disconnect". Hamilton slipped below and away from the tanker.  

Hamilton's Pig was loaded to the gills, packing som e major surprises 

for anyone getting in her way. 

 Meanwhile, far south, the target of interest steam ed west 

unaware of the approaching danger. The Taizhou disp laced most of the 

other ships in the Chinese fleet by over 50 percent .  She was built 

for long endurance and could run fast.  Even in the  heavy following 

sea, the Sovremenny class destroyer made a comforta ble 25 knots. Her 
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captain and crew were confident in their systems. S he was, after all, 

the 'Carrier Killer'. The Taizhou was a lethal pack age of air, ASW 

and surface-to-surface weaponry, the ship's captain , PLAN Commander 

Li Zhenbang, easily moved with the steady roll of t he ship.  There 

was, he believed, no one close enough or daring eno ugh to offer a 

threat to them.  They strolled with complete impuni ty through the 

Australian waters.  

 Two hours after refueling, the flight of Pigs desc ended to sea 

level well outside the range of the Taizhou's radar  capabilities.  

Flying fast and on the deck, the big jets ploughed the ocean with 

their exhausts. It was a rough ride, especially wit h a full rack of 

munitions. Hamilton's lead jet buffeted heavily.  T hey were closing 

with the target quickly and if they had actually be en conducting an 

attack they would have already released weapons per forming a pop up 

which potentially exposed them to radar.  Today, th ey stayed on the 

deck. 

 Just three miles out, the Taizhou’s ops room acqui red the 

flight. By then the F-111s had split, converging on  the target from 

different directions.  A collision was a real possi bility, but the 

gain of splitting the ship's defenses in all direct ions was worth it. 

On board the Taizhou, the missile director frantica lly punched his 

keyboard, loading SA-N-7 Gadfly missiles into their  launchers calling 

multiple incoming at plus mach one. Hamilton and th e rest of the 

flight saw and heard the Sovremenny radar lock onto  them.   

 The anti-air missiles were not the only threat; th e Taizhou's 

four six-barrel 30 mm AK-630 air defense guns could  spit out a 

curtain of lead at a rate of three thousand rounds per minute to a 

range of two miles. A shower of cold lead you only took once. 

 

 Captain Li Zhenbang had no previous combat experie nce.  Neither 

was he stupid.  But for the first time in his life he froze.  What 


